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OUR VISION  
Sustainable livelihoods 
and healthy lives for all 
in a changing climate
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Front cover: Mercy with her child Israel in  
Cross River State, Nigeria.

Left: Petua with some of her spinach plants 
in Omurania Village, Uganda.
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In 2022, just as the world cautiously 
emerged from the grip of the 
COVID-19 pandemic, a global food 
crisis driven by climate change and 

fuelled by conflict tightened its hold 
on the communities we work with.  

Referred to by some as ‘the year of 
the polycrisis’, 2022 saw our teams 
grapple with the impact of multiple 
emergencies overlapping. The 
economic aftershocks of the pandemic 
combined with the conflict in Ukraine, 
which pushed up fuel, food and 
fertiliser prices. Humanitarian needs 
rocketed and the number of people 
living in extreme poverty soared. 
Extreme climate-related weather 
events worsened disease outbreaks 
and continued to put pressure on 
the lives and livelihoods of rural poor 
communities.

Self Help Africa embarked on an  
initiative in response to the conflict in 
Ukraine responding to refugees’ basic 
humanitarian needs in Slovakia. 

In East Africa, the worst drought in a 
generation left more than 23 million 
people experiencing extreme hunger. 
Crops failed to grow and livestock 
died, leaving one person likely to 
die every 48 seconds and millions 
of children experiencing the most 
deadly form of malnutrition (severe 
acute malnutrition).   

Our teams worked with local partners 
to help families on both a short and 
longer-term basis, providing emergency 
supplies and vouchers to help families 
buy the essentials and ensuring 
farmers had access to drought-tolerant 
seed and the resources they needed 
for the next planting season. In 

Bangladesh and Malawi, cyclones hit 
vulnerable communities the hardest 
– taking lives, displacing families,
damaging homes, and destroying
crops and livelihoods. Our experience
in disaster preparedness and early
warning systems meant we could
respond quickly.

We joined international agencies, local 
disaster management committees 
and community-based organisations 
to assist affected communities, 
supporting them to implement 
cyclone preparedness and early action 
plans to help save lives and protect 
families’ valuable assets. Malawi also 
experienced the deadliest cholera 
outbreak in its history, leading the 
Government to declare a public health 
emergency in December 2022.  

There is no denying the huge 
challenges facing the communities 
we work with in Africa and beyond. 
The number of people needing 
support remains staggering. But we 
know that the work we are doing in 
partnership with those communities, 
local and national Governments, civil 
society organisations, and other local 
and international organisations will 
enable disadvantaged and vulnerable 
communities to take greater control 
over their own lives in the longer term. 
It will help them earn more from their 
work and provide a better life for their 
families.

Feargal O’Connell,  
Chief Executive, Self Help Africa

NEW HORIZONS
INTRODUCTION

by Feargal O’Connell  
Chief Executive, Self Help Africa 

Rising costs, economic 
pandemic challenges, 
conflict and extreme 
weather caused by 
climate change meant 
2022 was another 
relentlessly hard year for 
the communities Self Help 
Africa work with in Africa 
and beyond.
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12
IN 2022, WE 

REACHED OVER 

MILLION
PEOPLE

Khady Sarr among her raised cabbage beds, The Gambia.
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AGRICULTURE �& NUTRITION
Over 70% of Africa’s poorest people live on 
small farms. We help these farming families 
achieve their potential to grow much more 
and earn more from their land.

COOPERATIVES
We bring communities together - 
working as a cooperative means farmers 
can access new markets and earn a 
better income from their produce.

GENDER
We’re working to level the gender field in 
sub-Saharan Africa. When women receive 
the same support as men, yields increase 
20–30%.

MICROFINANCE
We invest in people. Providing access to 
small loans through microfinance gives 
impoverished rural families the means 
to improve their farms, so they can grow, 
eat and sell more.

CLIMATE-SMART
Those least responsible for climate change 
are the most affected by global warming. 
We support vulnerable communities 
to adapt to changing climate, through 
climate-smart agricultural techniques.

ENTERPRISE
We nurture small businesses and 
encourage enterprise, enabling 
households to earn a vital 
alternative source of income.

WHAT WE DO
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Aselefech Sileshi, a dairy farmer in Ethiopia.

OUR MISSION
We aim to alleviate hunger, poverty, social 
inequality and the impact of climate change 
through community-led, market-based and 
enterprise-focused approaches, so that 
people have access to nutritious food, clean 
water, decent employment and incomes, 
while sustaining natural resources.
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ZAMBIA

 UGANDA 
BURKINA FASO

RWANDA, BURUNDI

North Kivu 
and South Kivu 
provinces, DRC

State of
Paribe  

ERITREA

MOZAMBIQUE

GUINEA

NIGERIA

SENEGAL 
AND THE GAMBIA

BANGLADESH

BRAZIL

ETHIOPIA

 

KENYA

 

MALAWI

 

SELF HELP AFRICA SUPPORTED

375,972  
HOUSEHOLDS TO ACCESS  

SUFFICIENT FOOD

Samuel Gizaw (35) breeds cattle in 
Abichu District, Ethiopia
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53%
OF THE PEOPLE 

WE WORKED 
WITH

WOMEN 
MADE UP

We work with women smallholder farmers like Edith Malambo in Zambia (pictured) 
to overcome barriers that limit their income potential.
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347,337  
Households with 
increased production

225,346
Diversified farming 
systems

22,576
Farming and 
savings groups 

475,955  
Households practising 
Climate-Smart Agriculture

SELF HELP AFRICA  
IMPACT SNAPSHOT
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2022 IN FIGURES

Our income in 2022 

Public Funding

Irish Aid

EU

Partner Africa

CUMO

Retail

Penny Appeal

WFP

Charity Water

Other donors

12%

11%

31%

5%

4%

2%

2%

3%

3%

27%
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WHERE THE MONEY GOES (2022)*

89% 
PROGRAMMES

3% 
FUNDRAISING

8% 
GOVERNANCE

*Excluding retail
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Self Help Africa commenced 
the development of a new five 
year global strategy, ‘Sus-
tainability and Resilience in a 

Changing Climate (2023-2027)’, which 
was published in early 2023.

The new strategy positions the threat 
of climate change and the impact 
it has on rural poor communities 
as the context within which our 
future programme planning must  
be framed. The strategy defines the 
organisation’s goals and the neces-
sary resources, as well as the impact 
measurements for its success.

Collaboration was key to the devel-
opment of this new strategy. Plan-
ning and consultations took place at 
Board, programme country and head-
quarters level. An external consultant 
facilitated the process and supported 
the preparation of the new strategy. 
In addition, over 300 staff shared their 
views in an online survey circulated as 
part of the strategy’s development.

The new global strategy was formally 
adopted by the Board of Directors in 
early 2023. ‘Sustainability and Resil-
ience in a Changing Climate’ acknowl-
edges the recent and rapid growth 
within the organisation, specifically 
resulting from the merger with United 

Purpose, which added more than 500 
staff to our organisation’s workforce 
in late 2021. 

The strategy reshapes the organi-
sation’s global mission as the alle-
viation of hunger, poverty, social 
inequality and the impact of climate 
change through community-led, 
market-based and enterprise-focused 
approaches. It outlines the primary 
focus of Self Help Africa’s work as sup-
porting agriculture and food systems, 
maintaining sustainable landscapes, 
and providing support to communi-
ties to adapt to a changing climate.

‘Sustainability and Resilience in a 
Changing Climate’ follows ‘Embracing 
Change (2017-2021)’, which pro-
ceeded the integration of the oper-
ations of Self Help Africa and Gorta. 
‘Embracing Change’ was extended for 
a further year owing to the COVID-19 
pandemic.

PREPARING A 
NEW STRATEGY

The development of a 
new five-year strategy 
provides a road map 
that can guide us in 
our work to alleviate 
poverty and hunger in 
the years ahead.

Over 300 staff shared 
their views in an online 
survey circulated as 
part of the strategy’s 
development.
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Chikondi with her daughter Yankho in their 
back garden, Malawi.
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T he rural, economically 
disadvantaged communities 
with whom Self Help Africa 
works are among the most 

vulnerable to climate change. For this 
reason, it’s becoming increasingly 
important that we can not only help 
people adapt to changing conditions, 
but can also mitigate the effects. 
Improving preparedness and early 
warning mechanisms are key compo-
nents in this work.

Forecasting short-term local weather 
conditions in our programme coun-
tries remains an inexact science.  
However, global medium-term fore-
casts based on ocean temperatures 
are becoming very accurate, and 
longer-term climate change-related 
trends appear to be more closely 
following the predictions made by 
climate models.  

At Self Help Africa, a significant  
challenge we now have in our day-to-
day operations is to ensure that the 
forecasts being received reach the 
communities we work with in time 
– whether that is through radio, text 
messages or village councils. 

Too often in the past, farmers were 
warned about a coming drought 
when all they had were maize seeds  
unsuitable to survive the imminent 
poor rains and high temperatures.

Better meteorological and hydro-
logical data is required to improve 
national weather and flood fore-
casts. Historically, meteorological 
stations tend to be sited at airports, 
agriculture research institutions and 
district offices. This left large gaps in 
coverage. Self Help Africa has been 
using a locally-based ‘citizen science’  
approach to fill these gaps. 

In Malawi and Zambia, this local  
infrastructure includes close to 100 
manual and automatic weather 
stations that have been set up in 
primary schools and community 
centres. At these facilities, data is 
collected on a daily basis by commu-
nity members, shared with the wider 
community and sent by SMS to dis-
trict meteorological offices. River-line 
gauges have also been installed to 
warn downstream communities 
when river waters may be rising.

Following heavy rains in 2019-20, 
linked to the reversal of currents 
in the Indian Ocean (Indian Ocean 
Dipole), Eastern Africa experienced 
several years of drought associated 
with the La Niña reversal of currents 
on the Pacific Ocean (ENSO). 

Recently, that situation has reversed.  
The planet is now experiencing the 
start of a new El Niño event. This will 
reduce rainfall in Southern Africa, 

EARLY WARNING 
AND PREPAREDNESS

Climate change is an 
increasing threat to the 
world’s most vulnerable 
communities. Helena 
Škember, Regional 
Director for Southern 
Africa and Brazil, 
explains how we work 
with communities to 
boost their resilience.

by Helena Škember 
Regional Director for Southern 
Africa and Brazil.

CLIMATE CHANGE

Self Help Africa is working with 
farmers to minimise crop loss 
due to climate change.
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Eastern Bangladesh, Southeastern 
Brazil, and will also increase rainfall in 
Eastern Africa. 

In preparation for the anticipated 
poor rains in Zambia, Malawi and 
Mozambique, Self Help Africa staff 
are advising farmers to take out 
insurance before premiums rise, and 
to adopt conservation agriculture 
minimum tillage approaches that 
were proven to be an effective way 
of minimising crop losses during the 
2018-19 El Niño. 

Farmers are also being advised to 
access drought-tolerant seeds for 
more resilient crops, including pearl 
millet, sorghum, cassava, cowpea, 
Bambara groundnuts, and chickpeas. 
Opportunities to deepen water wells 
and steps to introduce school feeding 
programmes are being examined. 

Self Help Africa staff are preparing 
communities in East Africa for heavy 
rains, and an anticipated increase in 
water and mosquito-borne diseases 
and the possible displacement of 
people living in the low-lying areas 
around the fringes of Lake Baringo, 
Kenya. Self Help Africa’s soil and 
water conservation structures in the 
mountainous region of Southwest 
Uganda effectively protected the 
community from landslides during 
the heavy rains of 2019-20, so these 
structures are being repaired to cope 
with heavy rains. 

With an increasingly hostile climate 
and extreme weather events being 
experienced all over the world, work-
ing with local communities to adapt 
to, and cope with, the worst effects of 
the climate crisis will become increas-
ingly important to Self Help Africa’s 
programmes in the future.

It is important we 
help people adapt to 
the conditions and 
mitigate the effects 
of climate change.

Community members dig trenches 
to prevent landslides and soil
erosion at Lake Bunyonyi, Uganda.
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Natural resources on farms 
and communal land are 
among the most precious 
assets available to the  

people with whom Self Help Africa 
works.

Therefore, the protection, preserva-
tion and rehabilitation of these lands 
and environment are critical, if they 
are to provide and support a sustain-
able future for these communities.

Across Self Help Africa’s portfolio, 
smallholder farmers, as the prin-
cipal custodians of the land, are 
engaged in a range of community 
natural resource management activ-
ities designed to conserve natural 

resources. Conserving these precious 
natural resources in various eco-
systems ensures a continuous and 
sustainable supply of products and 
services derived from them.

Both food and non-food products are 
derived from the restoration, con-
servation and careful stewardship of 
natural resources. But, the benefits 
don’t end there. 

A well-conserved and managed 
ecosystem also provides communities 
with nutrient cycling, water cycling, 
soil formation and retention, as well 
as habitats of various fauna and flora, 
pollination of crops, decomposition, 
erosion and flood control, reduction 
of siltation and landslides, water puri-
fication, carbon storage and climate 
regulation. 

In the face of increasing and relent-
less pressure placed on natural 
resources by rising human  
populations and climate change 
effects, we must redouble our efforts.  
We must ensure that land use is 
sustainable, and support efforts to 
restore, conserve and rehabilitate 
lands that have become degraded 

We must ensure land use is sustainable 
and support efforts to restore, conserve 
and rehabilitate lands that have 
become degraded and depleted.

PROTECTING LAND 
IN A CHANGING 
CLIMATE 

Edward Meleki, Senior Global Advisor 
on Climate Change, Agroforestry and 
Natural Resource Management, explains 
why land restoration, conservation and 
management is a vital part of our work. 

by Edward Meleki 
Senior Global Advisor on Climate 
Change, Agroforestry and 
Natural Resource Management.

CLIMATE CHANGE
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The cook stoves fuelling Malawi’s 
fight against energy poverty 
More than three quarters of a 
million energy-saving fuel stoves 
have been distributed by United 
Purpose and Self Help Africa in 
Malawi in the past decade. 

The ‘Chitetezo Mbaula’ stoves 
(which means ‘protecting stove’ in 
local dialect) project has gener-
ated approximately €400,000 in 
additional income for the mainly 
women's groups who manufacture 
the clay devices, while generating 
over €150,000 more in income for 
the traders and agents who sell 
them. 

In a country where just 14 per 
cent of households have access to 
electricity and where most rely on 
open fires and charcoal to meet 
their home cooking needs, the 
initiative has halved fuelwood con-
sumption, reduced pollution and 
saved time and money for local 
households using the stoves.  

Not only do the stoves require 
less fuel for cooking, they also 
burn on alternate energy sources, 

including maize cobs, pigeon pea 
stalks and other crop residues. 
This means fewer trips to collect 
firewood, which expose women 
and girls to greater risk of sexual 
assault and violence. 

The name ‘Chitetezo Mbaula’ 
refers to both the safety of the 
device and its ability to protect 
forestry in a country that has lost 
more than 30 per cent of its tree 
cover in the past 40 years. The 
stoves have an average lifespan of 
three to four years. 

In an associated initiative, Self 
Help Africa has also begun 
promoting the use of a comple-
mentary alternative ‘Zipolopolo’ 
(meaning ‘bullet’ in the local lan-
guage) stove, which burns pellets 
made from agricultural waste – 
specifically compressed groundnut 
shells – as an alternative to illegal, 
unsustainably produced charcoal, 
which is the dominant cooking 
fuel for urban households and one 
of the leading causes of Malawi’s 
deforestation. 

and depleted. It is only by doing this 
that we will bring back disappearing 
biodiversity, and restore the natural 
structure and systems of forests, 
grasslands, soils, hills, mountains, 
streams, lakes, rivers, and oceans. 

Self Help Africa has been working 
to restore, conserve and manage 
degraded and degrading landscapes 
through afforestation, reforestation, 
and revegetation in a broad range 
of our programmes, including in 
Ethiopia, The Gambia, Kenya, Malawi, 
Senegal, Uganda and Zambia. 

As of December 2022, a total of 
26,975 hectares were under natural 
resource management practices and 
plans. This enables these areas to be 
fully restored, conserved, and  
managed by farmers. We are cur-
rently working with more than 
100,000 smallholder farmers, sup-
ported by 316 Community Natural 
Resource Management Committees 
to enhance agrobiodiversity and con-
serve various ecosystems in farming 
landscapes. 

 Over the coming years, Self Help 
Africa will continue working with 
Community Natural Resource Man-
agement Committees and more than 
200,000 farmers to restore, conserve 
and manage slightly over 150,000 
hectares of degraded ecosystems 
(Marine and Terrestrial) and grow 35 
million diverse trees species through 
tree planting and/or natural regener-
ation in various projects.

Energy-saving fuel stoves are helping protecting forests.
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More than one in five  
Africans – that’s more 
than 280 million people 
– are reliant on food aid 

for at least part of the year, according 
to data from the UN Food and Agricul-
ture Organization.  

East Africa has been in the grip of 
the worst drought in a generation. At 
one point, it was estimated that one 
person every 48 seconds was dying 
from hunger across drought-ravaged 
Kenya, Ethiopia and Somalia. 
Unprecedented successive failed 
rainy seasons has led to the death of 
millions of livestock. Countless crops 
failed, ruining livelihoods. 

It was the fourth successive year of 
drought for East Africa. By year end, 
the number of  people in need of 
emergency food aid spiked by 60 per 
cent compared to 2021. In 2022, East 
Africa endured its fourth successive 

year of failed seasonal rains. By year 
end, 22 million people across  
Ethiopia, Kenya and Somalia faced 
acute food insecurity, as the region 
endured its worst drought in more 
than 40 years. 
 
But climate change is just one of the 
causes of the current hunger crisis. 
Conflict, heavy debt burdens following 
the COVID-19 pandemic and spiralling 
commodity prices have all worsened  
an already difficult situation.

In the wake of the COVID-19  
pandemic, sub-Saharan African coun-
tries have also struggled to pay their 

Sub-Saharan Africa is 
currently in the grip of a 
food emergency that is 
as big and complex as the 
continent has ever seen.

Countless crops 
have failed, ruining 
livelihoods 

HUNGER CRISIS

RESPONDING TO A 
HUNGER CRISIS

by Dinkneh Asfaw 
Regional Director for 
the Horn of Africa.
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debts. The International Monetary 
Fund (IMF) estimated that 19 of the 
region’s 35 lowest income countries 
were in debt distress.

COVID-19 also caused international 
aid investment originally earmarked 
for Africa to be redeployed to 
support and mobilise health services 
across the world to respond to 
the pandemic. Russia’s invasion 
of Ukraine in February 2022 had 
consequences for Africa too.  

Western aid to Africa fell by close to 
20 per cent in the months following 
the conflict, as wealthy countries in 
the West turned their attentions to 
the crisis unfolding in Eastern Europe.

Disruption to oil and gas production 
in the conflict zone forced up 
global fuel and fertiliser prices and 
availability, which had a knock-on 
effect on food availability and 
production, with the production of 
maize, rice and wheat all falling in 
2022. Many African farmers were 
among the worst hit by the shortages 
as traders and producers prioritised 
the biggest markets. 

Food security is at the heart of Self 
Help Africa’s work across 15 countries 
in Africa, as well as Brazil and Bangla-
desh. We consider agriculture the key 
to ending hunger and poverty in rural 
areas.  

 
To support smallholder farmers 
affected by the fertiliser shortages, 
Self Help Africa shared its expertise 
with smallholder farmers so they 
could better diversify their crops 
and adopt climate-smart agricultural 
practices that do not rely on synthetic 
fertilisers.

In light of the alarming rise in global 
hunger statistics in 2022, this work is 
more vital than ever. 

Ellen (11) is a member of one of 13 ‘Green Schools’ groups that have been established 
in Mazabuka District, Zambia, to educate young people on climate change.
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CUMO Microfinance is a rural 
bank that started as a small 
pilot project to provide loans 
to just 100 rural farmers in 

Malawi over 20 years ago. Since then, 
CUMO has grown exponentially. Last 
year, it disbursed €6.8 million of loans 
to its rural and economically disadvan-
taged client base.

The bank has more than 72,000 
members and a network of 4,368 
Village Savings and Loans Associations, 
which it operates in 23 of Malawi’s 28 
districts. 

CUMO provides loan services tailored 
to client needs. Most borrowing is 
linked to on-farm agro-processing and 
smallholder farm trading activities.  

Recently, the bank became the first 
finance institution in Malawi to offer 
life insurance to small-scale farming 
households and insurance to farmers 
to protect against crop failure. 

The bank, which was a part of United 
Purpose, is now part of our group.

Established in 2000 as a project funded 

CUMO Microfinance is 
one of Malawi’s largest 
microfinance service 
providers with a focus on 
working with extremely 
rural communities.

CUMO MICROFINANCE

Most of CUMO Microfinance’s clients are women. 

ABOUT CUMO 
MICROFINANCE
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by the UK’s Department of Foreign 
and International Development (DFID), 
CUMO Microfinance has - in four of 
the past eight years - been awarded 
the highest compliance rating by the 
Reserve Bank of Malawi, the only 
non-deposit taking institution to have 
achieved such a rating. 

Alongside its comprehensive package 
of banking services, including savings, 
loans and insurance services, CUMO 
also supports its rural membership 
with a range of financial literacy and 
entrepreneurship support through a 
digitised mobile CUMO Entrepreneur-
ship Training Centre. 

Since the Centre’s inception, an 
estimated 76,000 Malawians have 
accessed training services. 

Most (84 per cent) of CUMO’s clients 
are women and many access loans to 
support agro-processing and other 
farm trading activities. Nearly all (96 per 
cent) of the bank’s clients live on less 
than two acres.  

CUMO, which is run from a head office 
in Lilongwe, has also been involved in 
supporting social cash transfer pro-
gramme recipients - assisting people in 
receipt of cash transfer humanitarian 
aid to start savings. 

This allows them to accumulate assets, 
start small businesses and achieve a 
higher degree of financial security. 

Most of CUMO’s 
clients are women 
and many access 
loans to support 
their farming.

Judith Banda is a client of CUMO in Malawi
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Self Help Africa subsidiary 
Partner Africa carried out 920 
social audits that reached 
more than 160,000 workers 

and contributed to improving the 
working conditions of 42,000 workers 
in Africa, in 2022.  

A new five-year strategy was 
launched in 2022. Partner Africa 
sought to broaden its remit to 
provide companies with premium 
quality social audit, advisory and 

training services that enabled them 
to achieve the highest social and 
environmental standards in their 
organisations and supply chains in 
Africa. 

In 2022, Partner Africa marked its 
10th anniversary. During the year it 
applied for International Organiza-
tion for Standardization (ISO) accredi-
tation, in order to develop a certifica-
tion programme for its clients.  

HOW PARTNER AFRICA 
SUPPORTED WORKERS 
IN 2022

2022 proved another 
productive and busy year 
for Partner Africa as it 
continued to support 
companies in Africa to 
improve conditions for 
thousands of workers 
across the continent.

Partner Africa aims to contribute to improving the working conditions of workers across Africa. (Library image).
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PA’s team across Africa and the UK 
worked together to deliver audits and 
advisory services to 25 industries and 
value-chains. This work happened 
mainly in agriculture, but also took 
place in the manufacturing, food and 
beverages sectors, across a total of 33 
countries.  

Partner Africa’s activities effected 
changes in the workplace in 180 
facilities and sites where issues of 
non-compliance with conditions and 
regulations were addressed and 
rectified.  

17 training programmes were carried 
out with companies and suppliers in 
the Business and Human Rights (BHR) 
area, while training was provided to 
15 businesses, suppliers and farmers 
groups, and with over 100 auditors. 

In 2022, Partner Africa also launched 
its first ever impact report, which 
provided detail of its work and the 
impact that it has had in different 
value-chains.  A copy of the report is 
available at this link: partnerafrica.
org/partner-africa-annual-reports

Among the specific projects com-
pleted by Partner Africa in 2022 were a 
Human Rights Impact Assessment for 
the tea sector in Kenya, a gender-sen-
sitive auditing pilot that applied a new 
Sustainable Supply Chains (SEDEX) 
auditing methodology across sev-
eral countries, a Human Rights Risk 
Assessment within the honey sector 
in Zambia, and an assessment into 
payments, contracts and other worker 
rights issues in the energy sector in 
Angola.

Partner Africa works with clients across sectors, including honey producers.

In 2022, Partner 
Africa contributed 
to improving the 
working conditions 
of 42,000 workers 
in Africa.
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In late 2017, hundreds of thousands 
of Rohingya, many of them chil-
dren, made the frightening exodus 
from Myanmar in a desperate bid 

to escape violence and ethnic cleans-
ing. They joined around 300,000 
refugees that were already living in 
southern Bangladesh, following previ-
ous displacement. 

Today, almost a million Rohingya 
are living in refugee camps in Cox’s 
Bazar in Bangladesh, entirely reli-
ant on humanitarian assistance 
for protection, food, water, shelter 
and health, and living in temporary 
shelters in highly congested camp 
settings. Their presence has had an 
adverse knock-on effect on local com-
munities too. Farmers and fishermen 
have been displaced, and farmlands 
already vulnerable to flooding and 
cyclones have experienced degra-
dation and further depletion of the 
region’s limited natural resources.  

With support from the International 
Organization for Migration (IOM) 
and Global Affairs Canada, United 
Purpose, the sister organisation of 
Self Help Africa, formed 54 self-help 
groups amongst the host community 
in Bangladesh, and provided business 
development and management train-
ing to more than 2,800 people, 87% of 
whom were women. 

The initiative supported the develop-
ment of 3,500 adaptive business plans 
by host community members whose 
livelihoods had been lost or affected 

by the large influx of refugees into 
Cox’s Bazar, and supported a further 
1,350 people to scale up their existing 
businesses through technical training. 

The latest work builds on previous 
United Purpose activities, and follows  
efforts supported by IOM to create 
several thousand new job opportu-
nities for young people who had lost 
their farmland or jobs to Rohingya 
refugees settled in Cox’s Bazar. 
Importantly, these efforts included 
social cohesion and climate change 
resilience programming to limit the 
complex nature of the emergency 
and the growing risks of severe 
weather events and violence between 
Rohingya and the host community.  

In the coming years, we will seek to 
work with local partners, including 
civil society and public sector, to 
strengthen local capacity to create 
contextualised livelihood and peace-
building programming in the region as 
part of the Grand Bargain, an agree-
ment between the biggest donors and 
aid organisations, that aims to get 
more means into the hands of those 
who need it. 

RESPONDING TO THE 
ROHINGYA REFUGEE CRISIS

Through our sister 
organisation United 
Purpose, Self Help Africa 
has been responding to 
the Rohingya refugee 
crisis since hundreds of 
thousands of people fled 
to Bangladesh.

Our efforts include 
social cohesion 
and climate change 
resilience.

by Sriramappa 
Gonchikara 
Country Director,  
United Purpose 
Bangladesh.

WORKING IN ASIA
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United Purpose has been supporting response to the Rohnigya crisis in Cox’s Bazar, Bangladesh.
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Chuma Malambo 
Chuma Malambo has become a role model for her 
family, after joining a local youth group in Monza 
District in southern Zambia less than three years ago. 

Chuma’s family was inspired to follow her footsteps 
into cassava production, after witnessing the success 
that Chuma has enjoyed since her group first began 
planting drought-tolerant cassava cuttings on a fenced-
off plot of land in Hatila village.  

Aged just 23, Chuma began earning an income selling 
cassava leaves, stem cuttings and tubers, which a local 
processing plant is buying from her youth group. 

Cassava growing requires minimal initial investment. 
Group members have reinvested profits from their 
sales to invest in different income generating activities. 
In Chuma’s case, she has bought poultry to rear and 

breed, and is also benefitting from a grove of fruit 
trees that her group have planted. This provides them 
with both good quality food to eat, and an additional 
product that they can sell to earn an income. 

“Since I started earning my own income from these 
enterprises, my family has been motivated to invest in 
both cassava production and in poultry,” she says. 

Chuma is among hundreds of young people in the 
Kafue Basin region of Zambia being supported by an 
Irish Aid-backed project that is seeking to preserve 
the local environment and support the emergence of 
a vibrant local economy that helps farmers develop 
sustainable value chains. The project is also nurturing 
initiatives using biofortified crops that significantly 
improve the concentration of particular nutrients.

CASE STUDY Zambia
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Fatou Mjie 
When the solar-powered water system supplying Fatou Mjie’s 
village broke down, the community didn’t have the resources or 
training to fix it. 

Like many others in Touba Pakala village, in The Gambia’s 
Central River Region, the 30-year-old rice farmer had to spend 
most of her day walking to fetch water. 

Supported by Self Help Africa’s sister organisation, United 
Purpose, the solar-powered system has now been repaired, and 
is providing a safe, clean supply of water, giving precious hours 
back to Fatou and the many other women and girls traditionally 
tasked with water collection. The work is part of a project in The 
Gambia being funded by the Waterloo Foundation, FORSA and 
Dublin City Council.

“I walk to this community tap eight times a day to fetch water 
because I cook, wash dishes and wash clothes, and those 
activities all require water,” said Fatou, a rice farmer and village 
water committee member. 

“We now have extra time to do other activities and it reduces the 
stress and hassle of collecting water outside our community. We 
also have time to relax and enjoy a little time off for ourselves.” 

In many rural areas of The Gambia, hand pumps are breaking or 
have broken, and even newly-installed solar-powered systems, 
like the one in Fatou’s village, require ongoing maintenance. 

United Purpose and local partners are collaborating with local 
communities to make access to safe water more sustainable.

Village committees are making decisions on water point 
management, and fees are being charged for water use, with the 
money then made available for management and maintenance. 
A network of local mechanics is now on hand to fix pumps, while 
a solar company has been retained to establish service contracts 
with rural communities and make regular maintenance visits. 

Fatou, who relies on small-scale farming to earn a living, is keen 
to establish an irrigation system that would allow women like 
her set up their own market gardens. At present, she walks 
several kilometres to farm rice, taking her away from her 
children for long periods of each day. 

“A vegetable garden would reduce the frequency with which I 
would go to the rice field for work and would allow me more 
time to give good care to my children,” she said.

CASE STUDY The Gambia
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Fatema Bibi
Food allergies and respiratory distress had made life at the refugee 
camp in Bangladesh’s Cox’s Bazar particularly difficult for 65-year-old 
Rohingya widow Fatema Bibi, whose symptoms always worsened 
when the weather was extremely cold or hot.  

For Fatema and many Rohingya refugees 
living in Cox’s Bazar, living conditions were 
difficult and access to medical services was 
limited.  

To address this challenge, in partnership 
with local health and family planning staff, 
United Purpose launched its ‘Survival 
Assistance for resettled Rohingyas through 
the continuation of humanitarian response 
and COVID-19 preventive Action’ project 
(SARA, for short). The project has been 
offering health outreach services at two 
camps where Rohingya refugees like 
Fatema can benefit from primary healthcare 
and infectious disease management.   

After visiting one of the camp’s doctors, 
Fatema was diagnosed with asthma and 
musculoskeletal problems and given an 
inhaler and pain medication. A week later, 
a follow-up appointment confirmed her 
condition had improved and she started to 
feel better.  

“Without this health post it would have been 
very difficult for us to get the treatment in 
this camp area, as there is no other health 
post near us,” she said. “They provided me 
with medicine and advice that has helped 
me to survive in this difficult time. I am 
grateful to all of them from the bottom of 
my heart.” 

To help prevent the spread of infectious disease, the SARA project 
has sought to strengthen hygiene and sanitation practices by running 
two portable water supply networks in the camps that provide more 
than 1,300 households with fresh water every day. 

CASE STUDY  Bangladesh

The SARA project has offered health 
outreach services at two camps for 

Rohingya refugees.
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Malawian farmer Ephraim 
Kamtedza waters his crops. CASE STUDY Malawi

Ephraim Kamtedza 
Every morning before he leaves for his work, smallholder 
farmer Ephraim Kamtedza, from Malawi, prays for guidance. 
The 48-year-old’s green field, just visible from his home, is 
evidence of the hard work he puts into growing food year-
round for his six children.  

Ephraim grows nutritious, high-yielding orange fleshed sweet 
potato, and is also a member of a local village savings and loans 
(VSL) group, with whom he saves. 

In Balaka district, where climate change has caused rains to 
be unpredictable, irrigated farming is essential to grow crops 
like the orange fleshed sweet potato sustainably. However, 
most farmers lack the resources needed to purchase farming 
inputs and the necessary irrigation technology.  

“At first I used to hire a pump to help with irrigation,” Ephraim 
explained. “This was both expensive and time-consuming.” 

In 2020, he invested his profits from sweet potato sales, and a 
loan from his VSL group to buy a motorised water pump. It cut 
down on his overheads, and saves him thousands in leasing 
fees every season. 

When Tropical Storm Ana hit in January 2022, Ephraim’s farm 
work was disrupted.  He took out a village loan and bought five 
50kg bags of rice, which he then traded. The profits he made from 
selling  rice went back into the farm, and also provided additional 
income to support his family at a difficult time. 

As a member of the VSL group, Ephraim was trained in VSL 
leadership, group dynamics, borrowing and loan management. 
He is now a VSL community-based trainer, overseeing five local 
groups with around 100 members.  

“The food I produced used to run out by November, forcing 
me to buy food until my next harvest in February,” he said. 
“At times my family struggled to eat. Now, I’m growing sweet 
potato commercially, and have been able to sell and make 
money from it. I’m reinvesting that money in so many ways.”
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From left, Claudine, Jona and Iman were awarded the 2022 Science for Development Award. The girls were chosen by 
the competition adjudicators as winners for a project that refrigerated food without requiring electricity.
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DEVELOPMENT EDUCATION
RETURNED TO THE CLASSROOM

S elf Help Africa’s Develop-
ment Education programme 
remained online for the first 
half of 2022, returning on a 

phased basis to in-person workshops 
in the final months of spring, and to 
full-time in person workshops at the 
start of the 2022-23 academic year.

The programme delivered work-
shops in post-primary schools and to 
marginalised young people through 
Youthreach Centres at a number of 
locations.

Self Help Africa participated in the 
second successive online BT Young 
Scientist & Technology Exhibition in 
Dublin in January 2022. The Science 
for Development Award was won in 
2022 by three fifth-year students from 
Co. Louth, with a project that refriger-
ated food without electricity.

The three teenagers, Jona, Claudine 
and Iman, were the 17th annual win-
ners of the Irish Aid-sponsored prize.

More than a dozen science projects 
were presented at a subsequent 
Science for Development Showcase, 
hosted by the-then Minister of State 
with responsibility for Overseas 
Development Aid and Diaspora, 
Colm Brophy at Iveagh House, the 
headquarters of the Department of 
Foreign Affairs.

Self Help Africa subsequently hosted 
a series of four student and teacher 
webinars to promote the Science for 
Development Award, and launched 
a competition with post-primary art 
students, to design a new perpetual 

trophy for the competition. 

This competition attracted more than 
60 student entries, and led to the 
creation of a prize-winner’s trophy in 
2023.

During 2022 the Development Educa-
tion team also participated in a num-
ber of annual public events, including 
the Elements of Change Festival at 
Cloughjordan Eco Village in Co. Tip-
perary, Electric Picnic Music Festival, 
the National Ploughing Champion-
ships, and in a World Food Day youth 
event in Galway.

A number of new teaching resources 
were launched, including a new 
resource that focussed on the envi-
ronmental impacts of fashion and the 
clothing industry.  

This was launched as a schools 
resource during the 2022-23 aca-
demic year, and was made available 
alongside Self Help Africa’s other 
schools resources at the Depart-
ment of Education’s teachers portal, 
ScoilNet, DevelopmentEducation.ie, 
and from the Educator Hub at the 
BT Young Scientist and Technology 
website.

Self Help Africa is a member of Irish 
Development Education Association 
(IDEA) sectoral working groups for 
formal education, adult education 
and quality and impact. The 
organisation is also represented on 
the Dóchas Development Education 
group, and is a member of the 
DevelopmentEducation.ie consortium.

As the health threat 
posed by the pandemic 
receded, in-person 
workshops resumed 
for the Development 
Education team.

A competition 
to design a new 
perpetual trophy for 
the winners of the 
Irish Aid sponsored 
Science for 
Development Award 
attracted more than 
60 entries.
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Self Help Africa’s flagship fund-
raising event of 2022 saw 50 
leading stars of Gaelic Games 
raise nearly €500,000, when 

they made a trip to Kenya to take part 
in an historic first GAA showcase in 
Nairobi.  

Well-known competitors from across 
Ireland made the week-long visit, 
during which they staged the first 
mixed inter-county games for men 
and women in Africa, and supported 
an initiative that has planted hun-
dreds of thousands of trees in Kenya.  

On the Plant the Planet Games trip 
in November 2022 were well known 
GAA stars, including Limerick hurler 
Sean Finn, Wexford’s Matthew O’Han-
lon, Kerry’s Stefan Okunbor, Clare’s 
Podge Collins, Kilkenny’s Grace Walsh 
and Niamh O’Sullivan from Meath. 
Alongside their sporting exploits, they 
took part in a series of tree planting 
activities and visited Self Help Africa 
development projects and work being 
carried out in Kenya. 

The inaugural Plant the Planet Games 
– a showcase of Ireland’s national 
games – were played at Nairobi 
Rugby Club and were attended by 
dignitaries including Ireland’s then- 
Ambassador to Kenya, Fionnuala 
Quinlan; Kenya’s world record holding 
athlete David Rudisha, his legendary 
Irish coach, Brother Colm O’Connell, 
and by representatives of the Irish 
community in Kenya.

The Plant the Planet Games trip was 
backed by the Gaelic Players’ Associ-
ation, whose CEO Tom Parsons was 

PLANTING THE PLANET

A major new event in 
both Ireland and Kenya 
has attracted significant 
media attention 
and raised valuable 
fundraising income.

The initiative has 
been shortlisted 
as a finalist for 
the Fundraising 
Campaign of the 
Year for 2023.

COMMUNITY FUNDRAISING
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Self Help Africa was also  
supported in 2022 by the  
Limerick-based Kirby Engineering 
Group, who raised over €420,000 
with an incredible two-day cycle 
event for their staff.

The ‘Kirby Way Cycle 2022’ raised 
funds for both Self Help Africa and 
the National Breast Cancer Resarch 
Institute. It was the  
biggest most successful fundrais-
ing event ever held to support our 
work.

The event, which took place in 
September 2022, saw 180 cyclists 
take to the road for a weekend cycle 
rally. 

Competitors cycled along a route 
from Limerick to Galway, with many 
of those involved then embarking 

on a second stage of their charity 
rally, onwards to Dublin - a total 
distance of approximately 300km.  

A team of 23 volunteers, including 
Kirby employees, family members, 
supply chain partners and clients 
supported the event.

among the players who travelled.  
The initiative has been shortlisted by 
the Charities Institute of Ireland as 
a Fundraising Campaign of the Year. 
The games were the brainchild of  
former Galway dual player Alan Ker-
ins, who has supported the activities 
of Self Help Africa through his War-
riors for Humanity programme, for 
the past decade. 

In the UK, our 2022 fundraising activ-
ities included a national BBC Radio 4 
Charity Appeal that was presented by 
broadcaster and environmentalist, 
Liz Bonnin. In the US, it was back to 
in-person fundraising activities when 
the popular New York ChangeMaker’s 
Ball returned to Manhattan, raising 
more than €250,000 to support our 
work. 

GAA stars who helped launch the inaugural Plant the Planet Games in 2022 (from left)  Matt 
O’Hanlon (Wexford), Grace Walsh (Kilkenny), Stephen Okunbor (Kerry), organiser Alan Kerins 

(Galway), Niamh O’Sullivan (Meath) and Sean Finn (Limerick).

KIRBY WAY CYCLE
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2022 was a year in which  
targets for the European Union 
initiative were exceeded and 
momentum continued to build, 

as the world slowly emerged from the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

By the end of 2022, AgriFI Kenya 
had integrated 166,548 farmers and 
pastoralists into inclusive value chains 
– surpassing its initial 100,000 farmer 
target. This meant around 120,000 
smallholder farmers had directly ben-
efited from better access to markets, 
farming supplies, credit facilities and 
training. 

Funds also continued to be distrib-
uted, bringing the AgriFI Challenge 
Fund’s grant facility commitment to 

The AgriFI Kenya Challenge Fund continued to 
improve the capacity and climate-smart practices 
of Kenya’s smallholder farmers and pastoralists 
during 2022. 

CHALLENGE FUNDS

AGRIFI KENYA 
FUNDING SURPASSES 
€12 MILLION IN 2022

Nairobi

Copyright © Free Vector Maps.com

Kenya
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Ngulisia and Sikon, members of the semi-nomadic Samburu 
tribe, sort gum arabic in Marsabit County.

nearly €18.3 million, with more than 
€12.2 million also distributed to pri-
vate sector investment in agricultural 
services and processing companies in 
Kenya. 

This investment provided support 
services and resources to small-
holder farmers and pastoralists in 45 
counties, enabling them to improve 
their livelihoods, unlock the value of 
their products and drive sustainable 
growth. 

A mid-term review found integrated 
farmers’ income had increased by 
11 per cent and the food security of 
the smallholder farmer households 
we worked with had improved, with 
more than 90 per cent having an 

acceptable food consumption score.

The Fund also continued to improve 
farmers’ productivity and climate 
resilience, having lent support to 
146,000 smallholder farmers and  
pastoralists in total by year-end. This 
has accelerated smallholder  
transition to commercial agriculture 
and livestock production, increasing 
and diversifying their income on a 
sustainable basis. 

By the end of 2022, farmers and 
pastoralists had cumulatively adopted 
climate-smart agricultural practices 
on 34,000 hectares of land. 
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ENTERPRISE Zambia launched 
its fourth call for funding  
proposals for its challenge 
fund in 2022, taking to a total 

of €6.1m the sum that had been 
disbursed since the project was 
launched in 2020.

A mid-range review of the challenge 
fund forecast that ENTERPRISE  
Zambia companies would create 
4,000 full-time jobs and directly and 
indirectly benefit up to 250,000 peo-
ple in small-scale farming households.

By year end, funding had been 
disbursed to a total of 26 companies 
across an array of agricultural value 

chains, including cotton, seed and 
inputs, livestock and tannery, aqua-
culture, farm equipment, maize and 
soya, forestry and warehousing.

The review acknowledged compa-
nies were continuing to adapt to 
and recover from the effects of the 
COVID-19 pandemic on their plans 
and operations.

The third and fourth call had focused 
attention specifically towards smaller, 
Zambian-owned companies, and had 
adjusted grant award sizes to engage 
with a broader cross-section of busi-
nesses in agri-business value chains.

ENTERPRISE 
ZAMBIA EXPANDS 
ITS FUNDING 
REACH IN 2022

ENTERPRISE Zambia con-
tinued to unlock green 
and inclusive growth in 
agribusiness, agroforestry 
and aquaculture.

CHALLENGE FUNDS
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Lusaka

Zambia

Fish farming in cages in Lake Kariba, womens’ group Siavonga, Zambia

By year end, funding had 
been disbursed to a total 
of 26 companies across 
an array of agricultural 
value chains.

ENTERPRISE Zambia works with smallholder farmers like 
Everest, 33, (pictured) to help them transition to greener, 

more sustainable food systems.
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Self Help Africa trading subsidiary TruTrade 
sourced and traded more than 827 metric 
tonnes of produce on behalf of small-holder 
farmers in Kenya, in 2022.

TruTrade successfully collaborated with Unilever 
Kenya Ltd to source 169 tonnes of finger millet from 
smallholder farmers under a sourcing as a service 
contract with Unilever. TruTrade was responsible 
for the aggregation of the finger millet through a 
farmer service centre network, in partnership with 
the Cereal Growers Association.

TruTrade completed the two-year Women in 
Trade project, funded by TradeMark Africa, with a 
focus on reducing gender barriers to productivity, 
strengthening market access opportunities, 
and improving the skills capacity for women-led 
and women-owned small- and medium-sized 
enterprises and micro, small and medium-sized 

enterprises in the agricultural sector.  This project 
enabled women aggregators to register and 
trade with 2,138 producers – of whom 1,065 were 
women and 1,073 men. From these producers, 
580,739 metric tonnes of mixed produce – ranging 
from avocado and mango to soyabean, sorghum 
and finger millet – was aggregated, and earned 
producers the equivalent of €147,000 in Kenyan 
shillings.

A significant restructuring of TruTrade’s operational 
model was undertaken during 2022 due to reduced 
available funding. TruTrade maintained the blended 
sourcing model to service larger local purchase 
orders from clients within a specified time frame. 
Across its portfolio of activities, TruTrade’s cost per 
deal  has reduced marginally, thanks to a combina-
tion of improved sourcing efficiency, strategic part-
nerships, volume buyers and its blended sourcing 
model.

TRADING FOR 
FARMERS IN KENYA
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Esther Loruk prepares ground for planting in Kadokoi, Baringo.

HOUSEHOLDS WITH  
INCREASED ACCESS  

TO FINANCIAL SERVICES

461,269
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WORLDWISE 
GLOBAL SCHOOLS

The WorldWise Global 
Schools (WWGS) programme  
maintained its success in 
delivering Global Citizenship 

Education (GCE) for the post-primary 
schools sector in Ireland during 2022.

The programme is fully funded by 
Irish Aid and is currently delivered by 
a consortium led by Self Help Africa, 
in collaboration with Concern and the 
City of Dublin ETB (CDETB) Curriculum 
Development Unit.

WWGS maintained a strong number 
and spread of post-primary schools 
accessing quality GCE through its 
programme in 2022. During the 
2021-22 academic year, 492 schools 
engaged in GCE through the WWGS 
programme, meaning 68 per cent of 
post-primary schools engaged with 
the programme during that year, with 
support from the Self Help Africa-led 
consortium.

Schools engage with the WWGS 
programme in various ways. The 492 
participating schools in 2022 included 
300 who worked directly with the 
WWGS staff team and another 192 
that were involved in WWGS-funded 
NGO and education network projects.

In 2022, WWGS continued to promote 
and implement quality standards and 
good practice approaches to GCE, 
including through its award-winning 
Global Passport framework. This 
framework has become a valuable 
tool within the Global Citizenship 
Education sector that is recognised 
locally and internationally. Another 
58 schools were presented with the 

Global Passport Award in April 2022, 
taking the total of schools holding 
the award during the academic year 
to 104.  To ensure teachers maintain 
and boost their GCE knowledge and 
skills, and support their pupils as they 
continue their learning in this area, 
WWGS organised a range of Con-
tinuous Professional Development 
training and events for 1,176 teachers 
during the school year.

Formal written feedback on WWGS’ 
third submission to the Irish Devel-
opment Education Association Code 
of Good Practice recognised the 
substantial body of good practice 
evidence it has amassed and its value 
not just to the Development Educa-
tion sector but to the post-primary 
sector as a whole. 

At the end of the year, the WWGS 
consortium engaged an external con-
sultant to assist the development of 
a five year proposal plan for the next 
phase of the programme.

The WorldWise Global 
Schools programme 
continued to open the 
minds of students across 
Ireland to global issues. The Global Passport 

framework has 
become a valuable 
tool locally and 
internationally.
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A group photo at the 2022 school management symposium, hosted in Iveagh House with Irish Aid.
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In 2022 Self Help Africa spent 
€44 million on 84 projects across 
Burkina Faso, Burundi, the Dem-
ocratic Republic of the Congo, 

Eritrea, Ethiopia, The Gambia, Guinea, 
Kenya, Malawi, Mozambique, Nigeria, 
Senegal, Uganda and Zambia, as well 
as Brazil and Bangladesh. 

We worked with smallholder farmers, 

farmer associations, cooperatives and 
agribusinesses to help farmers grow 
and sell more food, improve diets, 
diversify incomes and make their 
livelihoods more sustainable and 
resilient to external shocks.

While there were signs of a recovery 
from the worst impacts of COVID-19, 
macro-economic growth in target 

countries was impacted by external 
and internal shocks, including the 
effects of the war in Ukraine on global 
commodity prices (including food, 
fertiliser and fuel), the disruption of 
global supply chains and adverse 
weather conditions. Soaring levels 
of inflation also negatively impacted 
households’ purchasing power.

BANGLADESH

Bangladesh made a rapid 
recovery from COVID-19 but 
faced political and economic 
challenges. Upcoming elec-

tions in 2023 led to an increasingly 
challenging political atmosphere. 

There was also ongoing conflict in the 
Chittagong Hill Tract Region, along-
side environmental disasters in 2022.

Natural disasters, particularly floods 
in the northern regions of Bangladesh 

affected approximately 7.2 million 
people in June 2022. This led to a 
large-scale humanitarian response in 
which we were involved.

Five projects ended in Bangladesh 
during the year, including the GIZ-
funded project Mobilising rural 
women entrepreneurs for COVID-19 
response and recovery. This model 
was being piloted in Kenya, Malawi 
and Nigeria. Six projects continued 
into 2023, the largest being the 

EU-funded Leadership to Ensure Ade-
quate Nutrition (LEAN) project, which 
was due to end in 2023. 
 
Four new projects began in 2022, too. 
These included a Women’s Busi-
ness Centres project funded by the 
Coca Cola Foundation, a project to 
strengthen civil society within Cox’s 
Bazar supported by IOM, and a cli-
mate bridge fund project to enhance 
resilience.

2022 PROGRAMMES 
AT A GLANCE

Bandana, a leader in her local 
Women’s Business Centre, 

from Gongarampur, Khulna, 
Bangladesh.
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Humanitarian needs in 
Burkina Faso remained  
significant in 2022. Nearly 
1.9 million Burkinabè had 

been forced to flee their homes  – a 
result of political instability and cli-
mate change. Violence had an impact 
on education, health, communica-
tions, and road infrastructure. Human-
itarian access remained a challenge in 
large parts of the country. 

Despite this, we continued to deliver 
the Women’s Economic Empower-

ment through Entrepreneurship in 
the Cashew Value Chain project, also 
known as DEFI, and SustInAfrica, a 
consortium research and advocacy 
project spanning 17 partners in multi-
ple countries. 

The DEFI-Cashew project, which 
closed at the end of 2022, surpassed 
its target by reaching 4,209 people, 
including 3,909 women and 300 men 
in cashew production. The project 
also included a beekeeping com-
ponent, in which 235 people were 

trained and equipped for honey 
production. The EU-funded SustIn 
Africa, with Self Help Africa leading 
Work Package 5, primarily focused 
on screening innovations for their 
impact on gender, nutrition, and 
climate. 

In 2021, Self Help Africa joined the Global Evergreening Alliance (GEA), a world-
wide organisation that has brought together leading research, technical and 
development practitioners committed to restoring degraded lands, improving 
sustainability,  as well as the profitability and reliability of smallholder farming 
systems.

BRAZIL

In northeastern Brazil we continued 
to deliver a Government-funded 
‘Self-care alternative health pilot’ 
project, which offers alternative 

treatments to complement public 
health care services. The project was 
expanded to four health centres. 
Following the pilot, the Brazil team 

began engaging Paraíba State govern-
ment to discuss scaling the project. 
Funding was secured from Electric 
Aid and Be One Percent to support 
a menstrual health and income-gen-
erating project for women in five 
groups from early 2023. Emergency 
relief, including food parcels, was 

also distributed to 100 families (500 
people), and productive groups and 
micro enterprises led by women and 
young people were supported with 
rainwater harvesting,  bee keeping 
and honey materials, as well as solar 
panels, irrigation pumps and farming 
tools.

BURKINA FASO

Nearly 1.9 million 
were forced to flee 
their homes.
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Habilou Nabaloum, vegetable 
grower from the village of Laogo, 
Kourweogo Province, Burkina Faso.



46

BURUNDI

Self Help Africa has been assist-
ing small and medium-sized 
enterprises to strengthen 
their exports capacity and 

facilitating market linkages for 
regional exports with the East Africa 
community for a number of years. 
We also work with local government 
institutions to strengthen operational 
export capacity and skills through 

training, networking and coordinating 
sales missions.

The Burundi team delivered the 
Improve Information Sharing and 
Stakeholders’ Coordination on 
Cross-Border Trade for Women 
Traders in Burundi project, funded 
by TradeMark Africa. The project suc-
cessfully supported more than 2,000 
women in four provinces with access 

to markets and formal cross-bor-
der trade. This increased traders’ 
incomes, as well as Burundi trade 
revenues, and supported COVID-19 
recovery.

A tailored ‘MenEngage’, positive 
masculinity programme encouraged 
the women traders’ husbands and 
partners’ to support their work. 

THE DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC  
OF THE CONGO

As part of its country 
programme, in 2022 Self 
Help Africa delivered the 
cross-border project on 

the Export Capacity Development Pro-
gramme. 

The project, which is similar to the 
one running in Burundi, was funded 

by TradeMark Africa and forms part 
of Trade Mark Africa’s broader Market 
Linkages programme. 

The project paired 20 small and 
medium-sized enterprises (10 in 
South Kivu and 10 in North Kivu) 
with 20 export advisors, who were 
trained in business mentorship and 

on how to navigate border crossings 
and export regulations.  By the end of 
the project, 19 SMEs reported having 
developed a good relationship with 
the DRC bureau of standard and qual-
ity control for their business product 
certification. 

ETHIOPIA

The context in Ethiopia 
continued to deteriorate 
in 2022, with projects 
impacted by drought and 

other climate-related crises, includ-
ing flooding. Currency inflation and 
devaluation made procurement, 
recruitment and day-to-day activities 
more expensive. 

Conflict and insecurity remained a 
key concern as different regions of 
the country became less stable – 
creating a complex environment for 
humanitarian organisations to oper-
ate within. Hundreds of thousands 
of people were displaced by violence 
and climate events across the coun-
try, requiring Self Help Africa to reori-

entate and adapt its programmes. 

The Unleashing Productive Capacity 
through Graduation Approach proj-
ect, funded by Irish Aid, was extended 
by a year and allocated an additional 
€200,000 to respond to communi-
ties affected by extreme weather 
and conflict. People who lost their 
harvest to extreme weather, such as 
flooding and drought, and those living 
in emergency displacement camps 
because of conflict, received cash 
assistance. The initiative was hugely 
successful and led to further funding 
from the Irish Emergency Alliance 
(IEA) and an emergency Self Help 
Africa fundraising appeal. 

This funding supported the next 
response phase, which focused on 
communities in displacement camps. 
The camp populations had contin-
ued to grow during 2022, receiving 
little support as attention focused on 
the Tigray crisis. In late-2022, Ronan 
Scully, from Self Help Africa’s Fund-
raising team, visited the camps to 
raise awareness of this ‘forgotten cri-
sis’ and meet with the communities. 

The other Irish Aid project extended 
into 2022 was the MORE: MILK proj-
ect, which aims to increase produc-
tion through improved cattle breeds, 
resulting in higher incomes for 
farmers and improved food and nutri-
tion security for the community. This 
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flagship project has increased access 
to improved cattle breeds in the 
target area. These cows can produce 
up to 600 per cent more milk than 
local cattle, they breed more offspring 
and they emit fewer greenhouse 
gases. The project has also helped 
professionalise the local dairy sector 
by providing farmers with training in 
business skills, marketing, and how 

to mobilise members for the dairy 
cooperatives. The community has 
also benefitted from milk availability, 
as well as clear messaging about the 
nutritional benefits of dairy, especially 
for children. 

In 2022, Self Help Africa’s Ethiopia 
team also signed a contract with the 
World Food Programme to oversee a 

€3.2 million project across four zones 
in Amhara, providing 54,000 people 
with support, training and access to 
financial services. A key element of 
project will be reducing climate risks 
through rehabilitation and manage-
ment of watersheds. 

ERITREA
In 2022, Self Help Africa continued to 
support the Eritrean-Ireland Devel-
opment Partnership led by Vita and 
contributed to the EU-funded seed 
project, which sought to develop 
sustainable community-based seed 
systems for potato and cereals. This 
project ended in 2022. Self Help Africa 
and Vita are hoping to continue work-
ing together in the seed sector.  
 
Eritrea is now overseen by the 
Regional Director of the Horn of 

Africa, Dinkneh Asfaw, who is also 
Country Director for Ethiopia. In late 
2022, Dinkneh travelled to Eritrea 
with the Programme Coordinator 
for East and Horn of Africa to attend 
a potato conference hosted by the 
National Agricultural Research Insti-
tute (NARI). This was an opportunity 
to meet with partners and potential 
partners.      

Self Help Africa also provides tech-
nical support to the Climate Smart 

Agriculture Research and Innova-
tion Support for Dairy Value Chains 
in Eritrea (CSARIDE) project, which 
began in early 2020. 

In 2022 Robert Gensi, the Regional 
Agricultural Advisor, was able to pro-
vide support to the dairy project with 
a visit to Eritrea as well as organising 
multiple visits by Ministry of Agricul-
ture/NARI staff to Uganda for the 
purpose of knowledge exchange. 
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THE GAMBIA

Despite positive GDP growth, 
rising food prices under-
mined the pace of poverty 
reduction in The Gambia. 

The sharp increase in poverty was 
largely due to weaker growth in per 
capita GDP and high prices, which 
eroded the purchasing power of 
households. 

The GIZ-funded project to strengthen 
marketing federations was launched 
in 2022.  A member-based association 
was established to support produc-
tion and marketing of vegetables cul-
tivated by women farmers in the six 
regions of The Gambia. The project 
also built on the successful impact of 
an earlier biofortification project. 

We continued our partnership with 
Waitrose Foundation as the implemen-
tation partner at Wealmoor Radville 
Farm. The UK supermarket’s Founda-
tion works with its global supply chains 
to invest in farm workers and their 
communities with a range of social, 
environmental, health and economic 
projects, with an aim to improve 
livelihoods. The projects are designed 
with Worker Voice committees, who 
represent the farm workers.     

The Gambia team continued the 
implementation of the three year, 
EU-funded West Africa Competitive-
ness Programme. Participants at 120 
farmer field schools (95 per cent of 
whom were women) received train-
ing on climate-smart agriculture and 

resilience, good agronomic practices, 
record keeping, financial management 
and negotiation skills. A new project 
to provide farmers with market prices 
for agricultural products and climate 
information was also launched.

In total, 3,234 farmers (2,729 female 
and 505 male) were reached by a 
biofortification and nutrition project. 
Farmers produced 67,790 orange-
flesh sweet potato vines, which led 
to the production of 59 tonnes for 
consumption and marketing.  
A number of projects came to an end 
in December 2022. All co-financing 
requirements were met through 
Village Aid, FORSA, and Dublin City 
Council. 

Onion farmers supported by the 
the West Africa Competitiveness 

Programme sell their harvest for the 
local market. © Jason Florio
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GUINEA

The Enabel-funded INTEGRA 
programme continued pro-
moting local and  
inclusive development. It 

also contributed to the prevention 
and limitation of irregular migra-
tion, fostered the reintegration of 
return migrants, and the sustainable 
socio-professional integration of 
young people in Guinea. It did so in 
collaboration with GTZ, Germany’s 
Development Cooperation Pro-
gramme, Enabel, the United Nations 
Development Programme (UNDP) 

and the UN Capital Development 
Fund (UNCDF).

The INTEGRA programme aims to 
reach 4,736 young people through 
the INTEGRA functional literacy and 
economic integration programme, 
and to provide training, support and 
certification to 2,460 young people. 
By 2022, 37 training centres were set 
up, enabling 3,406 young people to 
receive literacy training and 2,460 
young people to develop business 
plans. 

The INTEGRA 
programme 
promoted local 
and inclusive 
development in 
Guinea in 2022.

KENYA

Kenya’s economy increased by 
6 per cent in the first half of 
2022, though this recovery 
was dampened by global com-

modity price shocks, the long regional 
drought and uncertainty in the run 
up to the 2022 general elections. The 
ongoing drought and a rise in the cost 
of living affected households through-
out the country. Most reported a rise 
in essential food prices, with many 
unable to access staples. In response 
to inflationary pressures, the Central 
Bank of Kenya raised the policy rate 
three times from May 2022 to reach 
8.75 per cent.

Throughout the year, a lack of rain 
affected most of the country, with 
the Arid and Semi-Arid Lands (ASAL) 
worst affected by drought. The lack 
of pasture and water saw livestock 
conditions deteriorate, limiting house-
hold income. Below average crop 
production meant there was less 
food, casual labour opportunities, 
and farmer purchasing power. House-

holds struggled to meet their dietary 
needs and were often reliant on mar-
ket food, further driving up prices. 

Three of our projects were in the 
ASAL areas: the EU-funded Baringo 
Resilience Initiative: Nurturing Greater 
Opportunity and the two Global Ever-
Greening Alliance (GEA) projects. The 
EU Resilience project started late, due 
in part to poor rainfall. A 12-month 
extension period to complete 
activities was requested in 2022 and 
granted in 2023. The two GEA projects 
have large tree planting components, 
which have been impacted by a lack 
of rain. Self Help Africa’s Kenya team 
adapted by focusing on farmer-man-
aged regeneration activities and redi-
rected some funds to increase water 
access by equipping boreholes for the 
Baringo project.

The EU also granted an extension for 
the Strengthening the Competitive-
ness of Cassava Value Chain project, 
which will now run until the end of 
October 2023.

An extension to the AgriFI Challenge 
Fund project was also requested to 
allow more time to work with compa-
nies and release additional grants to 
high performers. By 2022, the fund 
had supported the Agri enterprises 
to integrate 166,548 smallholder 
farmers and pastoralists into 14 
inclusive value chains, surpassing the 
original target of 100,000 smallholder 
farmers. As a result, they will benefit 
directly from better access to mar-
kets, input supplies, credit facilities 
and climate-smart agriculture training 
sessions.     

Towards the end of 2022, Self Help 
Africa launched its first Gaelic Athletic 
Association (GAA) fundraising trip. 
Around 50 GAA athletes from Ireland 
raised €10,000 each before travelling 
to Kenya as part of our organisation’s 
One Million Trees campaign. 
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MALAWI

In 2022, Malawi ran 20 pro-
grammes aimed at enhancing 
and improving sustainable access 
to water, sanitation and hygiene 

(WASH); nutrition; energy; liveli-
hoods; and agriculture services.
Self Help Africa also continued to 
support the Government of Malawi 
in emergency response, particularly 
during Cyclone Ana.  
 
The Sustainable Production, Eco-
nomic growth, Accountability and 
Resilience project (SPEAR for short) 
was extended for a year. The SPEAR 
project serves as the foundation for 
the next cycle of funding from Irish 
Aid, which was due to launch mid-
2023. Seventy four grain banks with 
13,685 members (more than half of 
whom were women) were organised 

into nine productive groups, at least 
half of whom were linked to cooper-
atives. More than 6,000 community 
members accessed grain loans during 
the lean season, which amounted to 
7,088 bags of 50kg maize each.  

The Sustainable, Accountable and 
Gender-Responsive Sanitation, 
Hygiene and Menstrual Hygiene Ser-
vices for a Healthy Learning Environ-
ment for Adolescent Girls and Boys in 
Schools (SHASHA) project concluded. 
With UNICEF support, 15 schools in 
the SHASHA project completed works 
to include disability-inclusive features 
and a changing room for better men-
strual hygiene management.

Elsewhere, we supported UNICEF to 
roll out cholera prevention activities 

in nine hard-hit districts. This pro-
gramme complemented the COVID-
19 vaccine intervention that also 
launched in 2022. By rehabilitating 
and repairing boreholes, more than 
14,200 people were able to access 
safe drinking water and sanitation.   

The flagship five year EU-funded 
Bringing Extension Training Trans-
forming Economic Returns (BETTER) 
programme ended in December 
2022. A consortium project that was 
implemented with a number of part-
ner agencies, BETTER reached nearly 
381,000 smallholder farming house-
holds through 12,943 farmer field 
schools spread across 78 Extension 
Planning Areas. 

MOZAMBIQUE

In Mozambique in 2022, United 
Purpose/Self Help Africa, launched 
seven projects. One of these was 
the third phase of the Govern-

ment’s multisectoral Transparent 
Governance for Water, Sanitation and 
Health programme (or GoTAS III, for 
short). Funded by SDC (Swiss Agency 
for Development and Cooperation) 
and implemented in partnership 
with The Netherlands Development 
Organisation, SNV, it aims to improve 
the health of 360,000 women and 
men living in rural areas of seven 
districts in Niassa Province through 
governance, water supply, sanitation 
and health promotion.

The Mozambique team is also imple-
menting a regional project, funded 
by Action on Poverty and the Aus-
tralian Government, that is  focused 
on improving farmers’ access to high 

quality seeds, training sessions and 
markets in Ethiopia, Malawi and 
Mozambique.

Medicor Foundation funded a 
WASH services project for schools 
in Lichinga District in Mozambique, 
while UNDP is supporting an initiative 
seeking to decentralise development 
initiatives in Niassa and Nampula. 

Global Affairs Canada (GAC) is sup-
porting She Belongs in School, being 
implemented in partnership with 
Save the Children International (SCI),  
and the UNCDF supported a project 
to improve equitable development 
through citizen participation and 
social accountability.

The Embassy of Sweden provided 
funding for Transfer Efficient and 
resilient Agricultural Technologies 
through Market Systems (TEAMS), 

which supported 40,500 farmers to 
access better agricultural inputs, and 
ended in December 2022.  

The Improving Food Security, nutri-
tion, income and livelihoods for 
smallholder farmers in Ethiopia, 
Malawi and Mozambique project 
was one of many to come from Self 
Help Africa/United Purpose’s long-
standing relationship with Australian 
donor Action on Poverty. This project 
supported 842 smallholder farm-
ers to improve food security, food 
safety and nutrition while promoting 
climate resilience. An important part 
of the project included promoting 
orange-fleshed sweet potato vari-
eties as nutritious and marketable 
crops, supporting smallholders in 
demand-building exercises and culti-
vation. The success of this project led 
to it being renewed. 
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NIGERIA

The economic situation in 
Nigeria deteriorated in 2022. 
According to the World 
Bank, up to five million more 

Nigerians were plunged into poverty 
during the year.

As Nigeria prepared for the 2023 
general elections, political tensions 
heightened and the security situa-
tion worsened. High levels of violent 
crime by non-State actors persisted, 
affecting people across the country. 
An estimated 8,000 people were killed 
and thousands were kidnapped. 

Humanitarian needs were high.  
Social and economic hardship linked 
to the COVID-19 pandemic combined 
with flooding – which caused dis-
placement, loss of life and damage to 
farmland – exacerbated the already 
fragile food and nutrition security 
of Nigeria’s most vulnerable. This 
was further compounded by tighter 
constraints on humanitarian access, 
higher food prices, and supply chain 
disruptions linked to the conflict in 
Ukraine. At least one in two Nigerians 
(more than 100 million people) expe-
rienced moderate or higher levels of 

food insecurity in 2022, according to 
the World Food Programme.

The Unicef-funded project Empow-
ering community and youth started 
during 2022, which aimed to improve 
government, local government, 
and community capacity to provide 
services that promote child-centered 
approaches to service delivery, where 
every child has access to quality 
essential services. A series of commu-
nity planning workshops were held 
during the year, and an enumeration 
exercise identified eligible children 
and families within the project area. 

A child has upper arm 
circumference measured to check 
for malnutrition in Nigeria.
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SENEGAL

Senegal is one of Africa’s most 
stable countries, with three 
peaceful political transitions 
since independence in 1960. 

While Senegal has so far been spared 
the violence engulfing the region, ter-
rorist group activities in neighboring 
countries and cross-border trafficking 
risk fueled instability. 

The COVID-19 pandemic and ongoing 
conflict in Ukraine reduced Senegal’s 
economic growth in 2022, with food 
and energy prices higher, trade dis-
rupted, and less private investment. 
The pandemic significantly altered the 
country’s economic outlook, affect-
ing tourism, transport and exports. 
Senegal has responded with several 
containment measures and has 
implemented an economic and social 
resilience programme but limited fis-
cal buffers and safety nets, a vulner-
able healthcare system, and a large 
informal sector pose challenges.

Despite numerous COVID-19 restric-
tions, United Purpose/Self Help Africa 
continued delivering project activities 
and maintained a consistent team. 
Four new projects were contracted 
throughout the year. The EU-funded 
Gestion des Forêts de Mangrove 
du Sénégal au Benin project, which 
focuses on mangrove protection, res-
toration and management, created a 
national working group for mangrove 
ecosystem protection and the first 
cross-border mangrove ecosystem 
protection platform with represen-
tatives from Guinea, Guinea Bissau 
and Senegal. This project enabled the 
organisation to build its relationship 
with the International Union for Con-
servation of Nature, leading the proj-
ect and becoming a key organisation 
in Senegal’s efforts to tackle climate 
change and marine conservation. 

The third phase of the Koranic 
Schools project was also contracted 
and enabled us to build on our 
previous work with school children 

and young people through better 
access to education. The project 
reduced child begging by 40 per cent 
and expanded our work on children’s 
rights to two new regions. At least 
1,000 children benefited from a holis-
tic package of education, health and 
vocational training.  

As implementation partner for the 
Waitrose Foundation at three export 
farms in Senegal, United Purpose/Self 
Help Africa commenced building four 
classrooms in the village of N’guélakh 
Peulh to improve teaching and 
learning conditions for the children 
of workers. We also installed drinking 
water connections in schools in the 
villages of Khodental, Keur Sabakhaw 
Sarr and Mbayene, and started to 
create toilet blocks for each school, as 
well as tree planting to provide shade 
and improve the school environment. 
We began refurbishing and equip-
ping a community health centre and 
providing solar lighting for the streets 
of the workers’ villages. 

Mary Apio is the secretary of a poultry 
rearing group in Atiira district, Uganda
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ZAMBIA

Zambia shares its border with 
eight countries, expanding its 
regional market options for 
goods and services. It is also 

one of the world’s youngest countries 
by median age and its large youth 
population is anticipated to double in 
the next 25 years, placing additional 
pressure on demand for jobs, health-
care, and other social services. 

In 2022, challenges in agriculture, 
mining and construction slowed the 
pace of post-pandemic recovery. 
Self Help Africa completed several 
longstanding projects in Zambia in 
2022. The three-year PRESERVE Kafue 
project successfully concluded in 
December 2022. The project used 
a farmer-led extension approach to 
provide ‘last mile’ extension support 
to 3,651 people. These farmers were 
trained in community-based natural 
resources management, enterprise 

development, savings, nutrition-sen-
sitive agriculture, water, sanitation 
and hygiene, and gender equality. 
The project also sought to protect 
essential ecosystems along the Kafue 
sub-basin, which provide approxi-
mately half of the nation’s hydro-elec-
tric power, 44 per cent of Lusaka’s 
water supply, and nearly 90 per 
cent of sugarcane for domestic and 
export markets. The second phase of 
PRESERVE will run for five years from 
2023 with Irish Aid funding.

The Zambia programme consoli-
dated its strong and positive working 
relationship with the World Food 
Programme through several proj-
ects. The Farm to Market Alliance 
exceeded expectations, supporting 
thousands of farmers each month to 
access input supplies through farmer 
service centres, where products and 
services were sold. These farmers 

were reached through training ses-
sions and links to inputs. The farmer 
service centres sold ZMW 508,735 
(approximately €25,000) that month, 
with most coming from the sale of 
seed, fertiliser and crop protection 
products. Its success exceeded expec-
tations. 

The EU-funded ENTERPRISE project 
saw €6.1 million disbursed to 26 
companies in 2022. The project’s 
mid-term review confirmed evidence 
of positive outcomes for smallholders 
and firms was beginning to emerge. 
Companies are forecast to reach 
more than 250,000 smallholders and 
support more than 4,000 full-time 
equivalent jobs by the end of the 
project in 2025. Smaller, fully Zam-
bian-owned companies will be the 
focus of the next phases. 

UGANDA

Economic recovery from the 
COVID-19 outbreak and 
lockdowns has been slow in 
Uganda. This, combined with 

below-average rainfall, has negatively 
affected household incomes at a time 
when food prices remain high. North-
ern Uganda continued to be affected 
by conflict and limited resources in 
2022, which further restricted food 
access. In the west and southwest of 
the country, localised flooding and 
landslides damaged and destroyed 
crops. African Armyworm, a devas-
tating crop pest, also remained a 
country-wide threat.  At the beginning 
of 2022, Uganda hosted more than 
1.5 million refugees. That population 
increased as the year progressed, 
with a further 130,000 people enter-
ing the country from South Sudan 

and the Democratic Republic of the 
Congo. The Famine Early Warning Sys-
tems Network estimated more than 
100,000 children and 12,000 pregnant 
and lactating women in Uganda’s 
refugee camps were malnourished 
between February 2022 and January 
2023 (IPC, 2022).

Self Help Africa in Uganda received 
funding from the World Food Pro-
gramme, a partner since 2018, to sup-
port refugee and host communities in 
Adjumani and Kiryondongo as part of 
the Agriculture Market Support proj-
ect. Also in Adjumani, the Sustainable 
Livelihoods and Inclusive Markets for 
Refugees project, funded by Irish Aid, 
was given a one year extension that 
allowed us to reach more people with 
food security and livelihood activi-

ties. An evaluation in late 2022 was 
promising, finding a steady reduction 
in post-harvest losses and up to 90 
per cent of farmers had adopted cli-
mate-smart agriculture practices after 
attending a project training session. 

The Striking a Balance: Developing a 
Green Economy around Lake Bun-
yonyi project was also extended for 
2022. The villages surrounding Lake 
Bunyonyi benefitted from five years 
of support and training in total that 
supported farmers to maximise their 
production, diversify their income 
and protect their farmland without 
negatively impacting the community’s 
natural resources. Self Help Africa 
hopes to build on this success with a 
follow-on project in the future. 
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In Bangladesh, the EU-funded Lead-
ership to Ensure Adequate Nutrition 
(LEAN) project continued to work on 
improving nutritional governance 
in Chittagong Hill Tracts through 
a multi-sector nutrition approach. 
LEAN has been working with central 
and local governments, facilitating 
nutrition coordination committees 
and building the capacity of line 
departments on nutrition-sensitive 

and nutrition-specific inter-
ventions. The aim remained 
to support local and central 
authorities to include a nutrition 
budget in their annual plans to 
embed nutrition interventions 
in authorities’ activities. This has 
the potential to improve the 
nutritional status of millions of 
households in Bangladesh.

BANGLADESH

Adisu Ali (26) is a ‘plant doctor’ in his community in Yetebon, Ethiopia.

COUNTRY POLICIES WE ENGAGED WITH
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In Kenya, we remained intensively 
involved in the Flour Blending Initia-
tive, which aims to contribute toward 
food security, improve nutrition and 
increase employment opportunities 
in Kenya through flour blending 
based on under-used, high-value 
foods such as cassava, millet, sor-
ghum and sweet potato. The Kenyan 
State Department for Crop Develop-
ment and Agricultural Research, with 
support from Self Help Africa Kenya 
and funding from the European 
Union, convened a series of intensive 
stakeholder consultative meetings in 
April 2022 with experts drawn from 
various sectors. Once the Flour Blend-
ing Regulation is passed, an increase 
in the production and consumption 
of crops used for blending wheat or 

maize flour, such as cassava, millet 
and sorghum, is anticipated. Self Help 
Africa presented its work on root 
crops, such as cassava and sweet 
potatoes, at the 19th International 
Triennial Symposium of the Inter-
national Society for Tropical Root 
Crops conference, which was held 
in Nairobi, Kenya in November 
2022. The crops are important for 
the food and nutrition security of 
millions of households, but their pro-
duction and transformation remain 
below potential. The conference was 
an opportunity to advocate strength-
ening the roots and tubers value 
chains to increase their competitive-
ness in our agri-food systems.

Nairobi
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KENYA

In Burkina Faso, as part of our policy 
influence strategy, Self Help Africa in 
Burkina Faso held a technical com-
mittee meeting that brought together 
stakeholders, including the national 
cashew union, members of decen-
tralised governmental services, and 
extension services. The meeting pro-
vided an opportunity for the organi-
sation to contribute to ideas that may 
boost the cashew sector, for exam-
ple proposing more inclusive and 
sustainable policies by advocating 
the meaningful inclusion of women 
in the sector and piloting innovative 
approaches, the transformation of 
cashew apples into nutritive products, 
such as juice. 

Self Help Africa participated in the 
cashew marketing campaign in 
Gaoua in March 2022, which was 
led by the Ministry of Agriculture 
and fixed the minimum price of 
cashew nuts for the year. The 
organisation also participated 
in a workshop organised by the 
Conseil Burkinabè de l’Anacarde 
(CBA, Burkina Faso National 
Council on Cashew) to validate 
reports and studies on the cashew 
price and its impact on the value 
chain. Self Help Africa was also invited 
to a feedback workshop on the draft 
national report on development 
cooperation, which was developed in 
2021. 

BURKINA FASO

Ouagadougou
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In Ireland, Self Help Africa took part in the Irish Forum for 
International Agricultural Development’s (IFIAD) Irish Food 
Systems Network. This was an opportunity to share experience 
and reflections on implementing a food systems approach 
with other international NGOs. Self Help Africa was invited to 
an International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) - 
IFIAD round table discussion, where Self Help Africa shared its 
experiences, approaches and innovations within agriculture 
and sustainable food systems. The organisation’s experience 
was referenced by the Associate Vice-President of the External 
Relations and Governance Department of the International 
Fund for Agricultural Development in her presentation and in 
accompanying marketing materials.

IRELAND

In Ethiopia, Self Help Africa remained 
actively engaged in revising existing 
agricultural and rural development 
policies and strategies, led by the 
Ministry of Agriculture. In 2022, Self 
Help Africa participated in formulat-
ing the national pluralistic agricultural 
extension policy, which will shape the 
provision of extension services in Ethi-
opia. The policy, once promulgated, 
will recognise the expertise that NGOs 
and the private sector bring to provid-
ing agricultural extension services.  

Self Help Africa also contributed 
towards understanding policy 
and institutional implications 
for smallholder farmers in the 
dairy sector in Ethiopia through 
our research paper ‘Institutional 
and policy factors for transform-
ing smallholder dairy farming 
towards a sustainable food system: 
evidence from MORE-milk project’ 
which was presented at Haramaya 
University.

Addis Ababa

ETHIOPIA
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In Malawi, Self Help Africa was com-
mitted to promoting neglected and 
under-used crop species (NUS), such 
as millet and Bambara nut. In part-
nership with the Lilongwe University 
of Agriculture and Natural Resources, 
farmers were supported to multiply 
NUS seeds. The next step will be to 
get the seeds certified under the 
Quality Declared Seed (QDS) sys-
tem by the seed services unit. This 
will help with the propagation and 
commercialisation of the NUS seeds, 
which will support farmers in their 
climate adaptation efforts, as well as 
their food and nutrition security. At 

the national level, the project con-
tinued to push for the recognition of 
QDS for these local NUS varieties. 

Self Help Africa, in partnership with 
Queen’s University Belfast, con-
tinues to promote the Targeted 
Selective Treatment approach 
among goat farmers and exten-
sion workers in Malawi. Efforts are 
underway to integrate this low-cost 
and effective approach into the agri-
culture extension policy in Malawi.

MALAWI

Margaret Banda, a smallholder farmer in Karonga, Malawi.
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In Zambia, Self Help Africa continued 
to participate actively in the revision 
of the micro, small and medium-sized 
enterprise (MSME) policy as a mem-
ber of the Technical Working Group 
on MSME. The work was halted 
during the pandemic and presidential 
election and was resumed with the 
creation of a Ministry of Small and 
Medium Enterprise Development 
to facilitate the creation and growth 
of small and medium enterprises to 
contribute to job creation. In 2022, we 
participated in the validation meeting 
of the revised MSME policy, support-
ing the incorporation of gender and 
inclusion considerations in the policy, 
as well as the inclusion of smallholder 
farmers and young people.

The Government also launched 
the Public Private Dialogue 
Forum (PPDF), which aims to 
promote economic growth and 
development through public-pri-
vate partnerships in Zambia. 

Self Help Africa was invited to sit 
on the PPDF technical working 
group and attended the first 
meeting on climate adaptation. 
Another forum, the Climate 
Smart Agriculture Alliance 
Zambia, conveyed a meeting 
where Self Help Africa shared 
its experience on climate-smart 
agriculture programming.

Lusaka

ZAMBIA

In Uganda, under the Teso Youth 
and Women’s Livelihoods Pro-
gramme, Self Help Africa continued 
to support local democracy by 
helping local authorities to formulate 
by-laws, which were presented to and 
passed by the sub-county council.  
This will enable local authorities to 
enforce them, helping communities 
to manage and protect their natural 
resources as well as their crops.

Self Help Africa, in partnership with 
Partner Africa, furthered efforts to 

improve the conditions of farmers 
in the honey value chain with 
the launch of the Responsible 
Business Conduct Guide 
for the honey and beeswax 
sector in Uganda. 

The guide outlines good prac-
tice in relation to responsible 
business and human rights 
due diligence, providing practical 
advice and tools.

Kampala

UGANDA



59Self Help Africa Annual Report 2022

Phales is an active member of the Village Natural Resource Management Committee 
(VNRMC) in Zambia’s Mazabuka district.
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LETTER FROM 
THE CHAIR

Self Help Africa continued 
to operate against the 
backdrop of a global 
pandemic throughout 
2022. 

I was proud to take the Chair role of 
Self Help Africa in February 2023, and 
am honoured to support the organ-
isation in its efforts to end extreme 
poverty and improve the lives of 
some of the world’s poorest people. I 
recognise that this challenge is made 
more difficult by the disruptive effects 
of changing climate and ongoing con-
flicts in many parts of the world. 

In Africa and beyond, we are support-
ing communities as they grapple with 
the significant threat to their lives and 
livelihoods posed by climate change. 
Although Africa is responsible for less 
than 10 per cent of global greenhouse 
gas emissions, more than 110 million 
people living on the continent were 
directly affected by weather, climate 
and water-related hazards in 2022. 

These changes to climate had real 
and fatal consequences, as at least 
5,000 people lost their lives to cli-
mate-related incidents, with nearly 
half of these deaths linked to drought 
(48 per cent) and 43 per cent associ-
ated with flooding. 

These numbers make sobering read-
ing and it’s easy to feel overwhelmed, 
but we know that when we work 
together, we can make a positive dif-
ference. We saw plenty of reasons to 
remain hopeful in 2022, based on the 
projects being delivered by our teams 
across the countries we operate in.  

One of the ways we will achieve 
change for climate-affected commu-
nities in Africa is through strategic 
partnerships with like-minded organ-
isations.  

So, as members of the Global 
EverGreening Alliance, we were 
delighted when the Alliance secured 
its first tranche of funding in 2022, 
helping kick-start Restore Africa – 
an initiative to restore 1.9 million 
hectares of land and directly support 
1.5 million smallholder farming 
families, across six African countries 
– Kenya, Ethiopia, Malawi, Tanzania, 
Uganda, and Zambia. We will be a 
proud partner in implementing some 
of this work in the years ahead. 

Partnership was also the focus within 
our organisation, following the 
merger in late 2021 between Self Help 
Africa and United Purpose, an NGO 
with a similar mission and vision. The 
process to move forward as a united 
team continued apace in 2022.  

We have had significant senior man-
agement changes in the organisation, 
including the appointment of a new 
CEO and financial director. The new 
team are working well with the intro-
duction of additional experienced 
staff. The Board has been strength-
ened by the appointment of two indi-
viduals with significant commercial 
and governance experience.  

We know when we 
work together, we 
can make a positive 
difference. 

by Geoff Meagher 
Chair, Self Help Africa 
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We are committed to ongoing excel-
lence in operational efficiency and best 
in class governance practices.

This milestone merger between Self 
Help Africa and United Purpose has 
expanded our reach to new countries 
in Africa and brought new expertise to 
our joint organisation, making us stron-
ger and more effective as we face the 
many challenges confronting disadvan-
taged communities worldwide. 

There is a lot to be done as the world 
grapples with the impact of climate 
change, but we will keep prioritising 
the future wellbeing of those communi-
ties we work with and for, sharing our 
expertise in climate-resilient agriculture 
approaches to ensure families can 
protect themselves from shocks and 
increase their income. 

I thank our staff at all levels for their 
commitment and dedication to our 
work throughout the year. There have 
been many difficult challenges to  

overcome and these have been man-
aged with enthusiasm and courage.

I thank my Board colleagues for their 
support and input throughout the 
year, including work within the various 
Board sub committees. 

Thank you for your continued support 
and interest in our work. I especially 
acknowledge the ongoing support of 
our many donors – without you, none 
of this would be possible. 

Geoff Meagher  
Chair, Self Help Africa

Tree planting by Self Help Africa staff in Ethiopia
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Directors and  
Other Information
BOARD OF DIRECTORS Geoff Meagher (Chair)

Carmel Fox 		  (Chair, resigned 28/02/2023) 
Martin Ryan 
Pat Murphy 		  (resigned 28/02/2023)
Jim Galvin 
Catherine Fitzgibbon 
Sheila Walsh 		  (resigned 28/06/2023)
Jim Kinsella 
Joe Healy 
Kalongo Chitengi 
Hadi Husani
Chinyere Almona 	 (appointed 29/09/2022)
Mary Robinson 	 	 (appointed 28/02/2023)
Sinead Kilkelly 	 	 (appointed 28/09/2023)
Ray Coyne 		  (appointed 28/09/2023)

Reports and Consolidated Financial 
Statements
for the financial year ended  
31 December 2022
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Report of  
the Directors
For the financial year 
ended 31 December 
2022

The directors present 
herewith the reports and 
audited consolidated 
financial statements 
of the charity for the 
financial year ended 31 
December 2022.

Objectives and Activities

Gorta is the legal company name of 
‘The Gorta Group’ which is a holding 
company for a group of organisa-
tions that cover a wide spectrum of 
activities in the international devel-
opment sector. The organisation 
trades as Self Help Africa (SHA). We 
are an international non-govern-
mental organisation whose main 
purpose is set out in our constitution 
as the assistance and advancement 
of people in need in less devel-
oped areas of the world. We have 
expertise in small-scale farming and 
growing family-farm businesses. We 
work with farmers and agricultural 
businesses in Africa to help them 
grow and sell more food, diversify 
their income and their diets, and 
make their livelihoods more sustain-
able and resistant to external shocks. 
We also respond to emergencies in 
support of the communities that we 
work with.

Strategic Objectives

Our primary strategic objectives are 
to:

	• Improve food, nutrition and 
income security for smallholder 
farmers.

	• Support the establishment and 
growth of inclusive, profitable and 
sustainable agribusiness.

	• Support the improvement of the 
policy environment for small-
holder farmers.

Our new strategy to be implemented 
in the period 2023-2027 provides us 
with a road map to guide us in our 
work in the years ahead. It sets out 
our plans to alleviate hunger and 
poverty through economic and social 
change that creates sustainable 
livelihoods and healthy lives. This is 
underpinned by a commitment to 
localisation, and community-led and 
market-based approaches. We will 
seek to ensure people have access 
to safe nutritious food, water, decent 

employment and incomes, without 
degrading their natural resources. 
We will do this from fragile contexts 
through to emerging economies. We 
will also seek to drive social change 
through policy and advocacy work 
that engages institutions and the 
wider public in our countries of oper-
ation and globally.

Activities

Self Help Africa works in Burkina 
Faso, the Democratic Republic of 
Congo, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Kenya, 
Malawi, Uganda, Togo and Zambia.  
This work was augmented in August 
2021 when SHA merged with United 
Purpose (UP), an international 
non-governmental organisation with 
its HQ in Wales. 

With a similar ethos to SHA, a 
locally-led approach is core to pro-
gramme delivery with a strong focus 
on partnership with national and 
local government as well as com-
munity based organisations (CBOs) 
and non governmental organisations 
(NGOs).  UP works in The Gambia, 
Guinea, Senegal, Nigeria, Mozam-
bique, Malawi, Bangladesh and 
Brazil. 

Structure, governance and  
mangament

Structure
Gorta (trading as Self Help Africa) is 
the parent company of the organisa-
tion. Gorta is a company limited by 
guarantee and a registered char-
ity in the Republic of Ireland. The 
other members of the Group are as 
follows:

	• Self Help Africa UK is a registered 
charity with the Charity Commis-
sion for England and Wales under 
registration number 298830. 

	• Partner Africa is a registered 
charity with the Charity Commis-
sion for England and Wales under 
registration number 1144815. 
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	• War on Want NI is a registered 
charity with the Charity Commis-
sion for Northern Ireland under 
registration number NIC 102154.

	• TruTrade is a company limited by 
shares, registered in Kenya (regis-
tration number CPR/2012/74219).

	• United Purpose is a registered 
charity with the Charity Commis-
sion for England and Wales under 
registration number 272465.

	• Village Aid is a registered charity 
with the Charity Commission for 
England and Wales under reg-
istration number 1067322. It is 
intended to dissolve Village Aid in 
2024 and transfer its assets and 
liabilities to Self Help Africa UK. 

	• CUMO Microfinance Limited is a 
registered company, limited by 
guarantee and incorporated in 
Malawi, under company registra-
tion number 8330.

	• United Purpose Trading Limited is 
a registered company with Compa-
nies House, under company regis-
tration number 03020217. UPT was 
dissolved on 4 July 2023.

	• Self Help Africa is a dormant 
company and a registered charity 
with the Charity Regulator in the 
Republic of Ireland under registra-
tion number 20012786.

Gorta was established as a legal char-
itable entity in the Republic of Ireland 
in 1965 and its governing document 
is the Memorandum and Articles of 
Association (most recently amended 
in July 2016). 

Governance

The Board is committed to main-
taining the highest standards of 
corporate governance and is happy to 
report that Self Help Africa complies 
with the Charities Regulatory Author-
ity’s Governance Code. Over the last 
number of years, the organisation 
has put the systems and structures in 
place to ensure that we comply with 
this Code. As part of the pursuit of 
the highest standards in governance, 
an effective Board and a competent 
executive management team led by 
the CEO head the organisation. There 
is a clear distinction between the roles 
of the Board and the management 

team to which day-to-day manage-
ment is delegated. The management 
team prepares matters for consider-
ation and approval by the Board e.g., 
annual budgets, policy papers. The 
Board then monitors their implemen-
tation. In this way, the Board creates a 
responsive, professional and sustain-
able group. The Board has reviewed 
our governance structures and has 
determined that we are compliant 
with the Code. In areas such as stra-
tegic planning, there is Board involve-
ment at all stages of preparation and 
ultimate approval is the responsibility 
of the Board. 

The Board met on seven occasions in 2022 (eight in 2021). Details of attendance 
at the Board meetings are set out below:

Name Attendance 
at Board 
Meetings

Appointed 
to Board

Resigned 
from 
Board

Latest 
Date for 
retirement

Carmel Fox (Chair) 7/7 05/06/2013 28/02/2023 28/02/2023

Martin Ryan 5/7 28/06/2019 28/06/2028

Pat Murphy 7/7 20/06/2013 28/02/2023 28/02/2023

Jim Galvin 3/7 28/06/2019 28/06/2028

Catherine Fitzgibbon 6/7 28/06/2019 28/06/2028

Sheila Walsh 3/7 28/06/2019 28/06/2023 28/06/2028

Jim Kinsella 6/7 7/10/2020 25/09/2029

Chinyere Almona 2/2 29/09/2022 29/09/2031

Joe Healy 6/7 7/10/2020 25/09/2029

Kalongo Chitengi 5/7 18/11/2020 18/11/2029

Geoff Meagher* 7/7 16/09/2021 16/09/2030

Hadi Husani 7/7 16/09/2021 16/09/2030

*Geoff Meagher was appointed Chair on 28 February 2023.
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Board Recruitment

Directors are elected from the 
membership of the organisation, with 
interested members putting them-
selves forward for election at the 
Annual General Meeting. As the Board 
is required to have a broad range of 
skills and experience, the Nomina-
tions Committee monitors succession 
planning for Board membership. 
It makes recommendations to the 
Board and membership regarding the 
recruitment of new directors who join 
the Board either via co-option (in the 
event of a vacancy arising and being 
filled between AGMs) or by being 
elected at the AGM proper. Directors 
co-opted between AGMs are required 
to put themselves forward for elec-
tion at the following AGM.

Training & Induction

New directors receive background 
and explanatory materials covering 
the nature and purpose of Self Help 
Africa to enable them to familiarise 
themselves with their duties and 
responsibilities, the Self Help Africa 
governance framework and its work 
overseas. Any relevant training 
requirements of directors are facili-
tated by the organisation.

Commitment to high standards of 
Corporate Governance

SHA has been awarded ‘Triple Lock’ 
status by the Charities Institute 
Ireland (CII). Triple Lock status is 
awarded to charities that uphold the 
highest standards in transparent 
reporting, ethical fundraising and 
strong governance structures. This 
recognition is the gold standard for 
Irish charities to offer assurances to 
donors, members, supporters and 
the general public. To achieve the 
Triple Lock, we:

	• Adopted and maintained compli-
ance with the Guidelines for Chari-
table Organisations on Fundraising 
from the Public.

	• Prepared our annual financial 
statements in compliance with the 
Charity SORP (Statement of Rec-
ommended Practice under FRS102) 
accounting standard and  

	• Adopted the Charities Governance 
Code as devised by the Charities 
Regulator. 

As a signatory to the Dóchas Code of 
Conduct on Images and Messages, 
we reaffirm our commitment to 
best practice in the communication 
of images and messages in all our 
public-facing collateral and policy 
statements. 

Board Sub-Committees

Audit, Finance and Risk Committee
The function of the Audit, Finance and 
Risk Committee is to review internal 
financial controls, treasury and risk 
management processes. It liaises with 
external auditors and reports directly 
to the Board. It meets on a regular 
basis to monitor and review the 
financial performance of the organ-
isation, internal and external audit 
findings, management information 
systems and internal control systems. 
It provides independent oversight of 
the annual budgets, management 
and statutory accounts and makes 
recommendations to the Board 
where relevant. 

The committee met 4 times in 2022  
(6 times in 2021). 		

Name Number 
attended/eligible 
to attend

Geoff Meagher (Chair)* 4/4

Martin Ryan 3/4

Theresa Morrissey 1/4

Chris McDonald 3/4

Jenny Fisher 2/4

Chinyere Almona* 3/4

Dervla Owens 0/4

Report of  
the Directors
For the financial year 
ended 31 December 
2022

* Geoff Meagher resigned from the 
committee and Chinyere Almona was 
appointed Chair on 18 May 2023.
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Programmes Committee
This committee oversees the quality 
and depth of programme perfor-
mance in the food, nutrition and live-
lihoods element of the programmes 
function on behalf of the Board and 
provides advisory support for man-
agement on the development and 
delivery of such programmes. 

In particular, it has the following dele-
gated responsibilities:

	• Ensure that all programming is 
delivered in line with organisa-
tional strategy, policy and gover-
nance standards.

	• Ensure that an effective pro-
gramme approval process is in 
place and applied.

	• Ensure that an effective results-
based management system is in 
place and applied.

	• Support the development of 
country strategy papers, pro-
gramme policies and programme 
approaches.

The committee met 4 times in 2022  
(5 times in 2021). 

Name Number 
attended/
eligible to 
attend

Pat Murphy 4/4

Jim Campbell 4/4

Catherine 
Fitzgibbon*

4/4

Nicholas Holden 1/4

Jim Kinsella 4/4

* Pat Murphy resigned as Chair and 
Catherine Fitzgibbon was appointed Chair 
on 28 February 2023.

Remuneration Committee
The function of the Remuneration 
Committee is to devise and recom-
mend remuneration policy to the 
Board for all Self Help Africa staff. The 
members of the committee are Pat 
Murphy (chair), Eimear Kenny and 
Valerie Sullivan.

Nominations Committee
The function of the Nominations 
Committee is to facilitate the ongoing 
process of Board renewal, making 
recommendations to the board and 
membership having identified skills 
gaps, and identifying members who 
would have the potential to fill such 
gaps. The Board actively encourages 
diversity in our governance struc-
tures. The members of the committee 
are Jim Kinsella (Chair), Tom Kitt, John 
Carroll, Carmel Fox.

The Fundraising and Communications 
Committee is a formal sub-committee 
of the Board, with delegated respon-
sibilities for planning and oversight 
of fundraising strategy, trends and 
performance. The members of the 
committee are Joe Healy (Chair), Pat 
O’Keeffe, Jason O’Brien, Hugh Chal-
oner.

Risk management and internal 
controls 

The directors have responsibility for 
and are aware of the risks associated 
with the operating activities of the 
Group. Risks are regularly discussed 
and reviewed at different levels of the 
group ensuring they are identified, 
managed and mitigated in line with 
the group policies and risk frame-
work. The Board are confident that 
adequate systems of internal control 
are in place and that these controls 
provide reasonable assurance against 
such risks. Management prepares a 
risk register which is a consolidation 
of head office and country level risk 
reviews and is updated regularly 
and subject to detailed reviews by 
the Board.  The principal risks and 

uncertainties have been identified as 
follows:

	• Global Staff Wellbeing: This is the 
risk that staff experience excessive 
and unsustainable workloads, 
which leads to risk of burnout, 
health issues for staff and poor 
performance against organisa-
tional objectives.  To help mitigate 
this risk, the Group Board has 
appointed a Head of People & Cul-
ture who will lead on a number of 
projects to address staffing issues.  
Wellbeing seminars for all staff 
are held regularly and over the 
coming years through an organisa-
tional restructuring, we will seek to 
ensure that resources are allocated 
appropriately to areas of most 
demand. 

	• Fraud & Corruption: This is the 
risk that a material fraud perpe-
trated by employees, partners 
or others may adversely affect 
our relationship with donors and 
other external stakeholders, or 
lead to reputational and financial 
damage.  To help mitigate this 
risk, the group is putting in place a 
training programme for all coun-
try programmes.  A confidential 
complaints mechanism is in place 
which allows staff and others to 
report on any concerns they may 
have which will then be fully inves-
tigated.

	• Integration in a Newly Merged 
Organisation: Heavy workload, 
the enormity of the task of inte-
gration may fail to be understood, 
Insufficient communication, loss of 
information & knowledge, dupli-
cation of effort, wasted resources, 
leadership issues, employee resis-
tance, IT integration and culture 
may impact the ability to suc-
cessfully integrate all parts of the 
organisation.  To help mitigate this 
risk the group has decided that no 
further mergers will be undertaken 
during this phase of the Strategic 
Plan to allow time & resources 
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to fully integrate United Purpose 
into the group.  Country plans are 
underway to review the applicable 
policies, local registrations, finance 
& other system standardisation 
across the organisation.

	• Sustainable Finance: The risk 
that we fail to manage and secure 
the financial position sustainably. 
Given the volatility of income 
streams, increased inflation 
globally and external shocks there 
is an increased financial risk to 
the Group.  To help mitigate this 
risk the organisation is reviewing 
its global structures in order to 
maximise the use of resources and 
maximise impact.

	• Accountability & Governance:  
Poor governance and man-
agement practices may lead to 
inappropriate decision-making, 
lack of accountability, and ineffec-
tive execution of plans.  A com-
plex governance structure may 
not allow for the development 
of clearer synergies across the 
entities. We may not achieve a ‘one 
organisation’ approach with the 
highest standards of transparency, 
accountability, responsibility, and 
participation.  A simplification of 
the Group structure is underway 
which will seek to fully merge enti-
ties within the organisation thus 
reducing the resources required to 
maintain the structure.  The Group 
Board has restructured its com-
mittees in 2023 to include a new 
People & Culture and Governance 
& Nominations committee

Management and staff

We appreciate and acknowledge the 
role played by staff, based in Ireland, 
the UK, Africa, Asia and Latin America. 
The ongoing growth of the organisa-
tion’s work is due to their dedication 
and commitment. We are committed 
to the development of our staff and 
will continue to allocate resources 
annually towards training and devel-

opment programme. We are an equal 
opportunities employer, and we recog-
nise the need to ensure we have high 
calibre staff and volunteers to achieve 
our vision and objectives.  We strive 
to create a supportive environment in 
which all employees can flourish and 
reach their full potential, regardless of 
differences, experience or education.  
Harnessing the wide range of perspec-
tives this diversity brings promotes 
innovation and helps make us more 
creative and enables us to better fulfil 
our organisation’s mission of sup-
porting sustainable livelihoods and 
food and nutrition security for Africa’s 
smallholder farmers.

The Board of Directors delegates 
authority as appropriate to the Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO).  The CEO 
appoints the other members of the 
senior management team. The Senior 
Management Team as of 31/12/2022 
were as follows.

	• David Dalton (Acting CEO)

	• Orla Kilcullen  
(Programmes Director)

	• Helena Skember  
(Regional Director)

	• Colin Lee  
(Integration & Strategy Manager)

	• Martha Hourican 
(Director of Business  
Development)

Remuneration policy for key man-
agement personnel 

The key leadership of the group 
includes the trustees and the CEO, 
who manages the charity on a day-to-
day basis.  All trustees give their time 
freely and receive no fees or remuner-
ation for serving as a trustee. The char-
ity reimburses reasonable expenses 
incurred while acting as a trustee. This 
includes travel and accommodation 
expenses required to attend meetings, 
training and orientation. Every effort is 
made to ensure costs are modest.  In 
deciding appropriate pay levels, Self 

Report of  
the Directors
For the financial year 
ended 31 December 
2022
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Help Africa aims to strike a balance 
between paying enough to recruit and 
keep skilled people and meeting the 
public’s and our donors’ expectations 
that the money they entrust with us is 
used wisely.

Internal Audit Function 

The establishment of a formal internal 
audit (IA) function in 2018 brought 
about the adoption of a SHA Internal 
Audit Charter which sets out the objec-
tives of the function and the extent 
of its responsibility and authority. 
We have also adopted a SHA Internal 
Audit Framework with a standardised 
approach to audit, along with standard 
reporting tools and programmes. The 
audits focus on SHA’s internal con-
trol environment and incorporate a 
risk-based approach to internal audit 
planning. Financial information is 
subject to detailed review at director 
level allowing for continuous monitor-
ing of Self Help Africa’s operations and 
financial status. A number of our field 
offices are subject to an annual audit 
by independent external auditors, 
in addition to periodic internal audit 
review.

Safeguarding 

We continue to implement our 
Safeguarding, and Protection against 
Sexual Exploitation and Abuse policies 
which are aligned with international 
best practice. Safeguarding is seen 
as a key governance priority.  Often 
there can be unequal power dynam-
ics or relations across an organisation 
and in relation to communities we 
work with. We face a risk that some 
staff (or others connected to SHA) 
may exploit their position of power 
for personal gain. Safeguarding is 
addressed throughout the organi-
sation through the three pillars of 
prevention, reporting and response. 
Our policies are applied to SHA 
Boards, staff and subsidiaries, part-
ners and affiliates, consultants, and 
contractors that supply services or 

support to SHA.  We strive to ensure 
compliance through training, terms 
and conditions for suppliers, a robust 
complaints response mechanism, 
whistleblowing channels and disci-
plinary measures up to and including 
dismissal and incorporation of the 
policy into partner agreements. A 
key element of this is in training, with 
workshops conducted at Head Office 
and all programme locations across 
Africa and addressing safeguarding as 
part of the induction process for new 
staff. 

Conflicts of Interest

The Board has approved an updated 
Conflict of Interest Policy designed to 
ensure all potential or actual con-
flicts of interest are identified and 
addressed. The policy requires all 
employees including board, consul-
tants, contractors, interns, secondees 
and volunteers that provide supplies, 
services or support to disclose poten-
tial or actual conflicts.  The policy 
includes examples and scenarios to 
aid staff and stakeholders in under-
standing the standards applied.  All 
employees are required to declare 
conflicts in recruitment, procure-
ments or as and when a conflict 
or potential conflict arises. All new 
employees sign the Conflict of Inter-
est Policy as part of their onboarding.  
All Board Meetings and Committee 
meetings have Conflict of Interest 
as a standing agenda item with any 
conflicts declared.

Staff Wellbeing, Safety & Security

Self Help Africa is committed to 
managing and conducting its work 
activities in such a way as to ensure 
- so far as is reasonably practicable - 
the safety, health and welfare at work 
of its employees and volunteers. The 
Safety Statement, in accordance with 
Section 20 of the Safety, Health and 
Welfare at Work Act 2005 in Ireland, 
outlines the policy of Self Help Africa 
in relation to the management of 

health, safety and welfare. Self Help 
Africa’s management continuously 
monitors compliance in line with 
legislative requirements. Our work 
on managing the impact of Covid-19 
on our staff – following government 
guidance in all jurisdictions in which 
we operate, keeping staff fully briefed 
on best practice safety protocols, 
facilitating working from home for 
staff, granting flexible working time, 
holding meetings online, facilitating 
employee assistance programmes 
and training mental health first aiders 
to support staff on wellbeing and 
mental health issues as well as a 
range of other measures – is evidence 
of our commitment to, and the value 
we place on, our staff.

Carbon Footprint 

SHA and the wider Gorta group 
are committed to a carbon neutral 
future for our organisation. While 
our carbon consumption reduced 
significantly because of the various 
lockdowns and travel restrictions 
since 2020, we recognise that there 
are still areas for improvement. We 
need to ensure, post lockdown, that 
behaviours do not return to pre-pan-
demic times. We continue to plant 
trees and take other steps to mitigate 
the effects of the carbon that we are 
responsible for generating. 

Volunteers   

Volunteers play an important role in 
enabling us to achieve our goals. We 
are grateful to the boards of direc-
tors of all group companies, advisory 
sub-committees, the network of 
volunteers, and members across 
our retail and fundraising, who have 
been a source of great strength and 
resilience over the years.
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Expenditure   

Expenditure on Charitable 
Activities of €45.3m is 95% of the 
total expenditure (2021:94%).   
Within Charitable Expenditure the 
largest spend is on the area of 
Livelihoods €13.6m, Agribusiness 
Development €9.6m, Agricultural 
Production €9.5m.

Expenditure on Charitable 
Activities of €45.3m (2021, €32.2) 
is 95% of the total expenditure 
(2021, 94%).  

Report of  
the Directors
For the financial year 
ended 31 December 
2022

Financial Summary   

In 2022 incoming resources for the Group (consolidated) were €46.7m (2021, 
€30.6m) with €47.6m of expenditure (2021, €34.1m); resulting in a net loss 
of €0.95m (2021, net expense of €3.5m). The significant increase in incoming 
resources resulted from the merger with United Purpose. Self Help Africa and 
United Purpose merged in August 2021; the 2022 financial year is the first full 
year of reporting for the merged entities.

The net impact of the above is a decrease in reserves of €0.65m during the 
2022 Financial Year (2021, a reduction of €2.8m).

Incoming Resources   

Income generated through Charitable Activities increased to 74% of total 
revenue. The EU is the largest donor to the Group with €15m in 2022 (€2.6m 
in 2021). Increased funding was also received from Irish Aid and a number of 
other donors. All other income streams increased in 2022 with the exception of 
Gifts in Kind. Gifts in Kind in 2021 resulted from the merger of United Purpose 
and the inclusion of the fair value estimate of United Purpose at the date of the 
merger in August 2021.

Charitable 
Activities

Expenditure as a % of total
95% 94%

Y/E  31/12/2022
Y/E  31/12/2021

2% 3% 3% 3%

Raising Funds - 
Retail

Raising Funds - 
Other
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The following chart represents the Charitable Activities expenditure by programme area.

The above expenditure includes an allocation of Support Costs. The support costs include Finance, HR, IT, Governance, 
management and other administration costs. In the 2022 financial year, the support costs allocated to Charitable Activi-
ties were €3.9m (2021, €2.9m).  As a % the support cost allocation remains at 9%.

Reserves policy   

The purpose of the Reserves Policy 
for Self Help Africa is to ensure the 
stability of the mission, programmes, 
employment and ongoing operations 
of the organisation. Our reserves are 
intended to provide an internal source 
of funds for situations such as a 
sudden increase in expenses, onetime 
unbudgeted expenses, unanticipated 
loss in funding, or uninsured losses. 

As of 31 December 2022, the unre-
stricted reserves are €7.3m (2021, 
€8.3m). It is the Board’s view that 
this level of reserves needs to be 
enhanced. In the coming years a 
focus on balanced budgets, a review 
of the assets held by the Group and 
a review of the countries in which we 
operate will help achieve the desired 
level of unrestricted reserves.

Prior Year Adjustment

In the 2021 Financial Statements, 
an estimate of expenditure was 
applied to a programme in Zambia 
which recorded expenditure for that 
programme based on the transfer of 
funds to our partner organisations.  
While this is an acceptable accounting 
policy, under SORP 2015, it is incon-
sistent with the method of record-
ing expenditure applied across the 
Group.  The group records expendi-
ture when our partners report that 
the funds have been spent. This has 
resulted in a prior year adjustment of 
€2.4m. 

Going Concern

The group’s forecasts and projec-
tions, taking account of reasonable 
possible changes in performance, 
show that the group will be able to 
operate within the level of its current 
cash and investment resources. The 
Board has a reasonable expectation 
that the organisation has adequate 
resources to continue in operational 
existence for a period of at least 12 
months from the date of approval of 
these consolidated financial state-
ments. Thus, they continue to adopt 
the going concern basis of accounting 
in preparing the annual consolidated 
financial statements. Further details 
regarding the adoption of the going 
concern basis is included in Note 1 to 
the financial statements.

CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES
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Future Plans 

We are intent on retaining our finan-
cial stability while working to achieve 
our strategic goals.  To continue 
delivering on our missions in support 
of the poorest communities in Lower 
Income Countries, the group needs to 
evolve. Our combined resources – of 
funding, personnel, experiences – will 
be blended to create an entity that is 
greater than the sum of our parts. At 
the end of 2022, the Group worked in 
16 countries.  In 2023 a scoping study 
was commissioned to advise on the 
future country footprint.  This study 
looked at both the overall question of 
how many countries we should work 
in and which countries those should 
be. The aim of the study was to 
maximise our impact and ensure the 
best use of our resources.  This will 
see the Group reduce the number of 
countries to 10 and will see a phase 
out of 6 country programmes in 2024 
and 2025.

The Group structure will also be 
streamlined and companies/chari-
ties may be closed or permanently 
merged with other entities within the 
group.  This will progress over 2024 
and 2025.

Events since the financial year end 

There were no events subsequent to 
the financial year-end that required 
any adjustment to the financial state-
ments.

Political contributions and 
Lobbying 

The Group did not make any political 
contributions in the financial year 
(2021 - €nil) and as a result made 
no disclosures as required under 
the Electoral Act, 1997. The Group 
is required under the Regulation of 
Lobbying Act, 2015 to record any lob-
bying activity or communications with 
Designated Public Officials (DPOs). It 
has made any returns and submis-
sions as required under the Act.

Accounting Records 

The measures that the directors have 
taken to secure compliance with 
the requirements of sections 281 to 
285 of the Companies Act 2014 with 
regard to the keeping of account-
ing records, are the employment of 
appropriately qualified accounting 
personnel and the maintenance of 
computerised accounting systems. 
The company’s accounting records 
are maintained at the company’s 
registered office at 4th Floor, Joyce’s 
Court, 38 Talbot Street, Dublin 1, D01 
C861.

Directors and Secretary

The directors and secretary, who 
served at any time during the finan-
cial year, were as follows:

Directors
Carmel Fox 
Martin Ryan 
Pat Murphy 
Jim Galvin 
Catherine Fitzgibbon 
Sheila Walsh 
Jim Kinsella 
Joe Healy 
Geoff Meagher (Chair)
Kalongo Chitengi 
Hadi Husani
Chinyere Almona (appointed 
29/09/2022)

Company Secretary
Peter McDevitt (resigned 
20/09/2022)
Pat Murphy (appointed 20/09/22)

Statement of Disclosure of Infor-
mation to Auditors

Each of the persons who is a director 
at the date of approval of this report 
confirms that:

(i) �so far as the director is aware, 
there is no relevant audit infor-
mation of which the company’s 
auditors are unaware; and

(ii) �the director has taken all the steps 
that they ought to have taken as a 

Report of  
the Directors
For the financial year 
ended 31 December 
2022
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director in order to make himself 
aware of any relevant audit infor-
mation and to establish that the 
company’s auditors are aware of 
that information.

This confirmation is given and should 
be interpreted in accordance with 
the provisions of Section 330 of the 
Companies Act 2014.

Directors’ compliance statement

Directors acknowledge that the 
directors are responsible for securing 
the company’s compliance with its 
relevant obligations; and

Directors confirm that the directors 
commenced the following three 
procedures in order to comply with 
the directors’ obligations during the 
financial year.

	• the drawing up of a “compliance 
policy statement” setting out the 
company’s policies that, in the 
directors’ opinion, are appropriate 
to the company, and respecting 
compliance by the company with 
its relevant obligations; 

	• the putting in place of appropri-
ate arrangements or structures 
that are, in the directors’ opin-
ion, designed to secure material 
compliance with the company’s 
relevant obligations; and 

	• the conducting of a review, during 
the financial period of any arrange-
ments or structures that have been 
put in place.

Auditors

The auditors, Deloitte Ireland LLP, 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory 
Audit Firm, were appointed as the 
company’s auditors for the financial 
year. Deloitte Ireland LLP will resign 
as the company’s auditors after the 
financial statement sign off and direc-
tors’ intention is to carry out a tender 
process to appoint the company’s 
auditors in the coming months.

Approved by the Board and signed on 
its behalf by:

 
Jim Galvin  
Director			

 
Geoff Meagher 
Director 	

Date: 18 July 2024
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Directors’ Responsibilities Statement

The directors are 
responsible for 
preparing the Report of 
the Directors and the 
consolidated financial 
statements in accordance 
with the Companies Act 
2014. and the applicable 
regulations.

Irish company law requires the 
directors to prepare financial state-
ments for each financial year. Under 
the law, the directors have elected to 
prepare the financial statements in 
accordance with FRS 102 The Finan-
cial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland issued 
by the Financial Reporting Council, 
as applied in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act 
2014, and with the Accounting and 
Reporting by Charities Statement of 
Recommended Practice applicable 
to charities preparing their finan-
cial statements in accordance with 
FRS102 (“the Charities SORP”) (“rele-
vant financial reporting framework”). 

Under company law, the directors 
must not approve the consolidated 
financial statements unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view of the assets, liabilities and 
financial position of the Group and 
company as at the financial year end 
date and of the surplus or deficit 
of the Group and company for the 
financial year and otherwise comply 
with the Companies Act 2014.

In preparing those consolidated 
financial statements, the directors 
are required to:

	• select suitable accounting policies 
for the parent company and the 
Group financial statements and 
then apply them consistently;

	• observe the methods and princi-
ples in the Charities SORP;

	• make judgements and estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent; 

	• state whether the financial 
statements have been prepared 

in accordance with the applicable 
accounting standards, identify 
those standards, and note the 
effect and the reasons for any 
material departure from those 
standards; and

	• prepare the financial statements 
on the going concern basis unless 
it is inappropriate to presume 
that the Group and company will 
continue in business.

The directors are responsible 
for ensuring that the Group and 
company keeps or causes to be 
kept adequate accounting records 
which correctly explain and record 
the transactions of the group and 
company, enable at any time the 
assets, liabilities, financial position 
and surplus or deficit of the group 
and company to be determined with 
reasonable accuracy, enable them  to 
ensure that the consolidated finan-
cial statements and report of the 
directors comply with the Companies 
Act 2014 and enable the financial 
statements to be audited. They are 
also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the company and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the pre-
vention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities.

Legislation in Ireland governing the 
preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions. The 
directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the 
corporate and financial information 
included on the group and company’s 
website.
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Deloitte Ireland LLP 
Chartered Accountants & 
Statutory Audit Firm  

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
GORTA (trading as Self Help Africa) 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion on the financial statements of Gorta (trading as Self Help Africa) (“the company”) 
In our opinion the group and parent company financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the group and parent company as at 31 December
2022 and of its incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure, of the group for the
financial year then ended; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework and, in particular, with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2014.

The financial statements we have audited comprise: 

the group financial statements: 
• the Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities (including income and expenditure account);
• the Consolidated Balance Sheet;
• the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows; and
• the related notes 1 to 37, including a summary of significant accounting policies as set out in note 1.

the parent company financial statements: 
• the Balance Sheet;
• the Statement of Cash Flows; and
• the related notes 1 to 37, including a summary of significant accounting policies as set out in note 1.

The relevant financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is the Companies Act 2014 and FRS 102 ‘The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ issued by the Financial Reporting Council (“the relevant 
financial reporting framework”).   

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are described below in the “Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements” 
section of our report.   

We are independent of the group and parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the financial statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard issued by the Irish Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, 
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group and parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of 
this report. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
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Other information 
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report 2022, other than the financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the Annual Report 2022. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our 
report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify 
such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of directors 
As explained more fully in the Directors' Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and otherwise comply with the Companies Act 2014, and for 
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group and parent company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the directors either intend to liquidate the group and parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to 
do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on IAASA’s website at: 
https://iaasa.ie/publications/description-of-the-auditors-responsibilities-for-the-audit-of-the-financial-statements. This description 
forms part of our auditor’s report. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2014 
Based solely on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, we report that: 

• We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit.
• In our opinion the accounting records of the parent company were sufficient to permit the financial statements to be readily

and properly audited.
• The parent company balance sheet is in agreement with the accounting records.
• In our opinion the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements and the directors’

report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2014.

Continued on next page/ 
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
Based on the knowledge and understanding of the group and parent company and its environment obtained in the course of the 
audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the directors' report. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the provisions in the Companies Act 2014 which require us to report to you if, in our opinion, 
the disclosures of directors’ remuneration and transactions specified by law are not made. 

Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 391 of the Companies Act 2014. Our 
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them 
in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed. 

Heather Doolin 
For and on behalf of Deloitte Ireland LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm  
Deloitte & Touche House, 29 Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2 

19 July 2024
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Notes

2022 
Restricted

Funds €’000

2022 
Unrestricted

Funds €’000

2022  
Total  
€’000

2021 Restricted
Funds Restated  

€’000

2021 
Unrestricted
Funds €’000

2021  
Total Restated 

€’000

INCOME FROM

Donations and legacies 3 648  4,871   5,519  522  3,723  4,245 

Charitable activities 4 33,536  961   34,497  14,492  1,759  16,251 

Retail income 5 - 1,054  1,054  -  642  642 

Other trading activities 6 486 2,982 3,468  1,253  1,808  3,061 

Gift in Kind                                                             7 - - - 3,327 1,493 4,820

Other income 8 238    1,961  2,199   57    1,464  1,521 

Total 34,908  11,829  46,737   19,651  10,889  30,540 

EXPENDITURE ON

Charitable activities 9 34,667   10,662 45,329   24,239  7,922  32,161 

Raising funds- Retail 5 - 913    913  -  857  857 

Raising funds - Other 10 - 1,445  1,445  99 998  1,097 

Total 34,667 13,020  47,687  24,338  9,777  34,115 

Net income/
(expenditure) 

13 241  (1,191) (950)   (4,687) 1,112  (3,575)

Other recognised 
losses/gains                 

14 255 (412) (157) 129 40 169 

Release acquisition 
provision

(4) 461 457 1 575 576

Net (expenditure)/
Income                       

492                   (1,142) (650) (4,557) 1,727 (2,830)

Taxation 12 15 - - - - (11) (11)

Net movement in 
funds

492  (1,142) (650)   (4,557) 1,716  (2,841) 

Transfer between 
Funds

12 (178) 178 - (213) 213 -

RECONCILIATION OF FUNDS

Total funds brought 
forward

33 10,755  8,295 19,050   15,525  6,366  21,891 

Total funds carried 
forward

33 11,069  7,331  18,400  10,755  8,295  19,050 

There are no other recognised gains or losses other than those listed above and the net movement in funds for the 
financial year. All income and expenditure derive from continuing activities.

Consolidated Statement Of Financial Activities  
(Including income and expenditure account) for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2022
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Consolidated Balance Sheet  
as at 31 December 2022

Notes 2022  
€’000

2021 Restated  
€’000

FIXED ASSETS

Tangible assets 19 1,273 1,498

Intangible assets 20 1 10

1,274 1,508

CURRENT ASSETS

Short term investments 22 178 242

Cash at bank and in hand 23 14,227 17,655

Debtors 24 9,868 9,296

Stocks 1 17

24,274 27,210

Creditors: Amounts due within one 
financial year

25 (6,183) (8,312)

Net current assets 18,091 18,898

Total assets less current liabilities 19,365 21,895

Creditors: Amounts falling due after 
one financial year

26 (965) (1,356)

NET ASSETS  18,400 19,050

FUNDS OF THE CHARITY

Accumulated funds – restricted 33 11,069 10,755

Accumulated funds – unrestricted 33 7,331 8,295

18,400 19,050

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 July 2024,  
and signed on its behalf by:

Jim Galvin				    Geoff Meagher  
DIRECTOR				    DIRECTOR
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Company Balance Sheet  
as at 31 December 2022

Notes 2022 
€’000

2021 Restated  
€’000

FIXED ASSETS

Tangible assets 19 53 45

Investments 20 4,233 4,820

4,286 4,865

CURRENT ASSETS

Short term investments 22 178 242

Cash in bank and at hand 23 7,649 11,453

Debtors 24 6,759 7,583

14,586 19,278

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one financial year 25 (4,826) (7,578)

Net current assets 9,760 11,700

Total assets less current liabilities 14,046 16,565

Creditors: Amount falling due after one financial year 26 - -

NET ASSETS 14,046 16,565

FUNDS OF THE CHARITY

Accumulated funds – restricted 33 10,602 9,351

Accumulated funds – unrestricted 33 3,444 7,214

TOTAL FUNDS 14,046 16,565

Net expenditure after other recognised gains/(losses)               (2,519) (2,453)

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 July 2024,  
and signed on its behalf by:

Jim Galvin				    Geoff Meagher  
DIRECTOR				    DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  
for the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Notes 2022  
€’000

2021 Restated  
€’000

Cash flows from charitable activities

Net cash used by charitable activities 31 (3,245) (9,340)

Cash flows from investing activities	

Interest received 8 1 59

Purchase of tangible assets 19 (184) (199)

Purchase of intangible assets 20 - (2)

Net Cash acquired through charity combination	 21 - 4,019

Net cash generated/(used) in investing activities (183) 3,877

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting year (3,428) (5,463)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting year 17,655 23,118

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting year 14,227 17,655

Reconciliation to cash at bank and in hand:

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 14,227 17,655

Company Statement of Cash Flows  
for the financial year ended 31 December 2022

Notes 2022 
€’000

2021 Restated  
€’000

Cash flows from charitable activities

Net cash used by charitable activities 31 (3,767) (10,533)

Cash flows from investing activities	

Interest received 8 1 58

Purchase of tangible assets 19 (38) (20)

Net cash (used)/generated in investing activities (37) 38

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting year (3,804) (10,495)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting year 11,453 21,948

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting year 7,649 11,453

Reconciliation to cash at bank and in hand:

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 7,649 11,453
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the financial year ended 31 December 2022

1.  �ACCOUNTING  
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies are 
summarised below. They have all 
been applied consistently throughout 
the current and preceding financial 
year.

General Information and  
Basis of Preparation
Gorta (t/a Self Help Africa) is a group 
and company incorporated in Ireland 
under the Companies Act 2014. The 
address of the registered office of 
the group and company is 4th Floor , 
Joyce’s Court , 38 Talbot Street, 
Dublin 8, Ireland. The company 
number of Gorta with the Compa-
nies Registration Office is 28228. The 
nature of the group and company’s 
operations and its principal activi-
ties are set out in the report of the 
directors. In accordance with Section 
1180(8) of the Companies Act, 2014, 
the company is exempt from includ-
ing the word “Limited” in its name.  
The company is limited by guarantee 
and has no share capital.

The financial statements have been 
prepared under the historical cost 
convention as modified by the 
revaluation of investments and in 
accordance with FRS 102 The Finan-
cial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland issued 
by the Financial Reporting Council, 
as applied in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act 
2014, and with the Accounting and 
Reporting by Charities Statement of 
Recommended Practice applicable 
to charities preparing their finan-
cial statements in accordance with 
FRS102 (“the Charities SORP”) (“rele-
vant financial reporting framework”).

The functional currency of the group 
and company is considered to be 
euro because that is the currency of 
the primary economic environment in 
which the company operates.

As permitted by section 291(3)(4) of 
the Companies Act 2014, the Group 
has varied the standard formats 
specified in that Act for the Statement 
of Financial Activities, the Balance 
Sheets and the Statement of Cash 
Flows. Departures from the standard 
formats, as outlined in the Compa-
nies Act 2014, are to comply with the 
requirements of the Charities SORP 
and are in compliance with Sections 
4.7, 10.6 and 15.2 of the Charities 
SORP. The Company has taken advan-
tage of the exemption available to it 
under section 304 of the Companies 
Act 2014, which permits a company 
that publishes its company and group 
financial statements together not to 
present its own statement of financial 
activities and related notes.

The Company meets the definition of 
a Public Benefit Entity under FRS102. 
As a registered charity, the Company 
is exempt from the reporting and 
disclosure requirements to prepare 
a directors’ report under section 325 
(1) (c), Companies Act 2014 but does 
so in compliance with the Charities 
SORP. There is nothing to disclose 
in respect of directors’ interests in 
shares or debentures of the Company 
under section 329, Companies Act 
2014.

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements 
include the financial statements 
of the Company and its subsidiary 
undertakings, Self Help Africa, Self 
Help Africa (UK), Partner Africa, 
United Purpose, TruTrade and War 
on Want (N.I.) Ltd. The activities of all 

six companies are mutually interde-
pendent. 

The work of the Group in Africa and 
across the globe, which is not carried 
out by one of the six subsidiary 
undertakings noted above, is carried 
out through branches located in the 
countries of operation. The branches 
are the local representatives of the 
Group. They do not have a separate 
legal personality and have been set 
up specifically to carry out the work of 
the Group.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled 
by the Group. The Group controls 
an entity when it is exposed to, or 
has rights to, variable returns from 
its involvement with the entity and 
has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. The 
financial statements of subsidiaries 
are included in these consolidated 
financial statements from the date on 
which control commences until the 
date on which control ceases.

Going concern
The group’s forecasts and projec-
tions, taking account of reasonable 
possible changes in performance 
show that the group will be able to 
operate within the level of its current 
cash and investment resources. The 
Board have a reasonable expectation 
that the organisation has adequate 
resources to continue in operational 
existence for a period of at least 12 
months from the date of approval of 
these consolidated financial state-
ments. Thus they continue to adopt 
the going concern basis of accounting 
in preparing the annual consolidated 
financial statements.  
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Income 
i	 Income from voluntary donations 

is recognised when received.  
As with many similar charita-
ble organisations, independent 
groups from time to time organise 
fundraising activities and may 
operate bank accounts in the 
name of Gorta or Self Help Africa. 
However, as amounts collected in 
this way are outside the control 
of the group and company, they 
are not included in the financial 
statements until received by the 
group.

ii	 Proceeds from the sale of donated 
goods are recognised in the finan-
cial statements in the period in 
which they are realised. Volunteer 
time is not included in the finan-
cial statements.

iii	 Grants from the government 
and other agencies have been 
included as income from activities 
in furtherance of the charity’s 
objects and accounted for on a 
receivable basis.

iv	 Income from legacies is rec-
ognised when the likelihood of 
receipt is probable, the group 
is entitled to the funds and the 
amount can be measured with 
sufficient reliability. 

v	 Interest income is recognised on a 
receivable basis. 

vi	 Revenue refunds in respect of tax 
relief on voluntary donations are 
recognised on a receivable basis 
in so far as the receivable can be 
established with a reasonable 
amount of accuracy. 

vii	 Other income reflects income 
earned by Partner Africa in 
respect of ethical trade related 
assignments and is recognised on 
a receivable basis. Such income 
is deferred until such time as the 
assignment occurs and the related 
expenditure is incurred.

Expenditure

i	 Charitable activities comprise 
expenditure incurred by the 
programme countries for the 
costs of the development pro-
grammes as well as costs incurred 
at headquarters that are directly 
related to the implementation of 
programmes. Expenditure is rec-
ognised in the period to which it 
relates. Expenditure incurred but 
unpaid at the balance sheet date 
is included in accruals and other 
creditors. 

ii	 Expenditure on raising funds com-
prises all expenditure incurred by 
Self Help Africa on raising funds 
for the organisation’s charitable 
activities.

Gifts in kind
Items donated for resale are included 
in shop income when sold and no 
value is placed on stock at the year 
end. Any other gifts in kind which 
are deemed non-material are not 
included in the financial statements.  
Gifts in kind that can be valued 
with reasonable confidence will be 
included in the financial statements.  

Funds Accounting
Funds held by the charity are:

i	 Unrestricted funds - these are 
funds which can be used in accor-
dance with the charitable objects 
at the discretion of the Directors.

ii	 Designated funds - these are 
funds which have been set aside 
for particular purposes by the 
company itself, in furtherance of 
the company’s charitable objects. 

iii	 Restricted funds - these are funds 
that can only be used for particu-
lar restricted purposes within the 
objects of the charity. Restrictions 
arise when specified by the donor 
or when funds are raised for par-
ticular restricted purposes.

Further explanation of the nature and 
purpose of each fund is included in 
the notes to the financial statements.

Tangible Fixed Assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at 
cost less accumulated depreciation. 
Depreciation is provided for on a 
straight line basis at rates estimated 
to write off the cost over the year of 
their expected useful lives (taking 
account of residual value). The annual 
rates of depreciation are as follows:

Shop fittings 
20% Straight line

Furniture and computer equipment    
33.3% Straight line

Motor vehicles 
33.3% Straight line
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Intangible Fixed Assets
Intangible fixed assets represent pur-
chased computer software applica-
tions and are capitalised when there 
is a clearly defined project, the related 
expenditure is separately identifiable 
and the outcome of the project has 
been assessed with reasonable cer-
tainty as to its technical, surplus gen-
erating and financial feasibility. In the 
absence of such criteria, these costs 
are expensed. Intangible fixed assets 
are amortised over their expected 
useful lives.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabili-
ties are recognised when the group 
and company become a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instru-
ment. Financial liabilities are classified 
according to the substance of the 
contractual arrangements entered 
into.

All financial assets and liabilities are 
initially measured at transaction price 
(including transaction costs), unless 
the arrangement constitutes a financ-
ing transaction. If an arrangement 
constitutes a financing transaction, 
the financial asset or financial liability 
is measured at the present value of 
the future payments discounted at a 
market rate of interest for a similar 
debt instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised 
when and only when a) the contrac-
tual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire or are settled, b) 
the group and company transfers to 
another party substantially all of the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the 
financial asset, or c) the group and 
company, despite having retained 
some significant risks and rewards of 
ownership, has transferred control 

of the asset to another party and the 
other party has the practical ability 
to sell the asset in its entirety to an 
unrelated third party and is able to 
exercise that ability unilaterally and 
without needing to impose additional 
restrictions on the transfer.

Financial liabilities are derecognised 
only when the obligation specified in 
the contract is discharged, cancelled 
or expires. Balances that are classified 
as payable or receivable within one 
year on initial recognition are mea-
sured at the undiscounted amount 
of the cash or other consideration 
expected to be paid or received, net 
of impairment.

Investment Policy 
All cash balances for planned devel-
opment work are held in demand 
deposit accounts or short-term 
investment accounts at the highest 
interest rates available at the time of 
investment. Long term investments 
acquired by donation or through 
merger will not be held in the long 
term and will be disposed of within a 
reasonable time frame.   

Pension Scheme
The group operates defined contri-
bution schemes for employees. The 
assets of the schemes are held and 
managed separately from those of 
the charity by independently admin-
istered funds. The annual contribu-
tions are charged to the Statement of 
Financial Activities (SOFA).

Operating Leases
Rentals applicable to operating leases 
where substantially all the benefits 
and risks of ownership remain with 
the lessor are charged to the State-
ment of Financial Activities (SOFA).

Reserves Policy
In order to secure the long-term 
viability of the Group and to maintain 
the smooth operation of the organi-
sation, it is critical to ensure that the 
organisation has adequate reserves. 
The level of reserves is required to 
cover the following activities of the 
organisation:

	• Provide funding for sustainable 
programmes.

	• Meet contractual liabilities such 
as lease agreements, statutory 
staff payments and payments to 
creditors.  

	• Maintain a required level of fund-
ing available for overseas pro-
grammes during times of financial 
difficulty where fundraising income 
is diminished. 

	• To facilitate programme/project 
continuation especially where a 
partner submits a new or addi-
tional phase proposal in advance 
of the current activity being com-
pleted, in order to meet seasonal 
requirements (i.e. farming season) 
and prevent development gaps.

	• Meet unanticipated expenses such 
as repairs and maintenance, cur-
rency variances and legal costs.

	• Cover day to day expenditure of 
the Group.

	• Ensure there is adequate funding 
should any winding up costs ever 
arise.

	• Provide for any other unantici-
pated expenditure of significance.

The Board may designate unrestricted 
reserves for specific future expendi-
ture such as Long-Term Programmes, 
sinking funds to cover repairs to 
Fixed Assets (or as required under 
the terms of any lease relating to 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the financial year ended 31 December 2022
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premises etc.) and any other poten-
tial future requirement(s). The Board 
has adopted a reserves policy based 
on foreseeable expenditure and in 
particular, long-term commitments to 
projects.   

Foreign Currencies
Transactions in foreign currency are 
recorded at the rate ruling at the 
date of the transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are translated 
at the rate of exchange ruling at the 
balance sheet date. All differences are 
taken to the Statement of Financial 
Activities (SOFA). The balance sheets 
for the subsidiaries are translated 
at the prevailing year end rates and 
included in the consolidated balance 
sheet. The statements of financial 
activities for the subsidiaries are 
translated at an average rate for the 
year and included in the consolidated 
statement of financial activities. Any 
exchange gains or losses arising on 
consolidation are recognised in the 
statement of financial activities.

Taxation
No charge to tax arises due to the 
exempt status of the Company and its 
subsidiaries, Self Help Africa, Self Help 
Africa (UK) and Gorta UK. Irrecover-
able value added tax is expensed as 
incurred in these companies. Partner 
Africa is registered as a charity and 
benefits from corporation tax exemp-
tions available to charitable bodies. 
It is however registered for VAT in 
the UK and Kenya and Partner Africa 
Kenya is subject to Kenyan corpora-
tion tax.   

Concessionary loans
Concessionary loans are initially rec-
ognised and measured at the amount 
received or paid, with the carrying 
amount adjusted in subsequent years 
to reflect repayments and accrued 
interest as well as being adjusted if 
necessary for any impairment.

Onerous contracts 
Provision is made in respect of oner-
ous contracts where the unavoidable 
costs of meeting the obligations 
under the contract exceed the 
economic benefits expected to be 
received under it and a reliable esti-
mate can be made of such obligations 
and benefits. 

2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING 
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY 
In the application of the compa-
ny’s accounting policies, which are 
described in note 1, the directors 
are required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about 
the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. The estimates 
and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and 
other factors that are considered to 
be relevant. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to account-
ing estimates are recognised in 
the period in which the estimate is 
revised if the revision affects only that 
period or in the period of the revi-
sion and future periods if the revi-
sion affects both current and future 
periods. Information about critical 
judgements in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements is included in 
the accounting policies and notes to 
the financial statements.

The directors do not consider there 
are any critical judgements or sources 
of estimation requiring disclosure.
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3. Donations and Legacies

2022  
€’000

2021  
€’000

Committed giving (regular giving) 4,336 3,452

General donations 847 500

Legacies 336 293

TOTAL 5,519 4,245

In 2022 €648k (2021: €522k) of income from donations was restricted.  

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the financial year ended 31 December 2022

4. Charitable Activities
Income received from Institutional Funders

2022 
€’000

2021 
€’000

European Commission 14,552 2,535
Irish Aid Programme Grant 3,929 3,390
Irish Aid (WWGS) 1,197 1,100
ILCUF 49 64
A Glimmer of Hope 898 520
Endev 432 -
Trademark East Africa (57) 163
GIZ 804 -
World Food Program (WFP) 1,072 823
Teagasc 276 78
IDH – The Sustainable Trade Initiative - 120
AGCO - 51
International Potato Centre - 112
Palladium 141 -
MoNDP 483 -
Queens University Belfast 44 5
UN 679 154
Save the Children International 375 -
FINTRAC Inc - 13
Waitrose Foundation 87 -
World Bank 169 17
Irish Embassy 889 -
Agfund 52 -
DFID-Other 16 -
Enabel 119 571
The Community Foundation of Ireland 397 -
Slovak Aid 310 598
MonDp - 138
Tullow Oil - 73
Danish International Development Agency 187 353
ICRAF 37 -
ISSD - 3
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In 2021 €14,492k (2020: €13,203k) of incoming resources from 
charitable activities was restricted.

Fair Trade Foundation - 20
Sustain Africa - 12
FCDO - 56
JOAC 32 105
WJ9 - 195
Foundation for Food and Agri research - 55
Action Aid 45 47
Action on Poverty 139 26
UNICEF 624 64
Coca Cola 233 104
Concern Worldwide - 690
SWIFT - 40
ECHO 343 61
Electric Aid 14 41
Foreign Commonwealth and Development office - 340
IMVF 121 119
International Fertilizer and Development center 353 223
International organization for migration 174 69
International Union for the conservation of nature 432 584
Ministry of Agriculture - 376
VIS                                                                                                      - 949
Swedish Development Corporation - 124
The One Foundation 411 156
University of Strathclyde 195 4
Waterloo Foundation 59 146
AMF - 66
Charity Water 1,193 541
Penny Appeal 1,309 48
WCVA 31 6
COMIC Relief - 43
Mercy Corps - 6
CASA Grant 4 23
IOM 102 -
ADA                                                                                                  74                                -
Give Directly 91 -
Blue Action Fund 29                               -
Climate Bridge Fund 6 -
Miscellaneous Income 431                              -
CO2 Balance                                                                                   102                              -
Livelihood funds 446 -
Other 59 31
USAID 308 -

TOTAL 34,497 16,251

4. Charitable Activities
Income received from Institutional Funders (cont.) 

2022
€’000

2021 
€’000

In 2022 €33,536k (2021: €14,492k) of incoming resources from charitable activities 
was restricted.



88

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
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6. Other trading activities

2022  
€’000

2021  
€’000

Ethical audits 2,324 2,588

Campaigns, events and treks 1,073 91

Product Value Chain 71 382

TOTAL 3,468 3,061

7. Gift in kind

2022  
€’000

2021  
€’000

Investment in United Purposes - 4,820

Note 7 Continued:
On 4th August 2021 Self Help Africa (SHA) entered into a legal and binding merger agreement 
with United Purpose (UP), a UK based charitable organisation operating across Africa, Latin 
America and South Asia. On the 4th of August a fair value assessment was carried out on 
the assets and liabilities of UP and a Gift in Kind valuation was calculated and included in the 
consolidated financial statements.  See note 21 for fair value split of assets and liabilities.

8. Other income

2022  
€’000

2021  
€’000

Income from investments 1 59

Government Covid -19 supports 176 1,023

Income from CUMO Microfinance 1,755 -

Other income 267 439

TOTAL 2,199 1,521

5. Retail income and expenditure

2022  
€’000

2021  
€’000

Turnover from donated goods 1,054 642

Less costs:

Operating expenses (801) (759)

Management expenses (36) (36)

Support costs (76) (62)

(913) (857)

Trading Surplus/(Deficit) 141 (215)
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9. Charitable activities
Field programme expenditure has been incurred in the following thematic areas 

2022 
Direct Costs 

€’000

2022 
Support Costs 

€’000

2022 
Total Costs 

€’000

2021 
Direct Costs 

Restated €’000

2021 
Support Costs
Restated €’000

2021 
Total Costs

Restated €’000

Agriculture production 9,085 852 9,937 8,677 814 9,491

Agri-business development 9,143 951 10,094 8,732 909 9,641

Nutrition 630 56 686 602 53 655

Gender/inclusion 138 12 150 132 12 144

Advocacy/policy 1,985 186 2,171 1,896 178 2,074

Water, sanitation & health 610 54 664 583 52 635

Renewable energy 49 4 53 47 4 51

Humanitarian 390 35 425 373 33 406

Partner capacity building 712 63 775 680 60 740

Environment 171 16 187 103 5 108

Development education 1,565 158 1,723 1,492 150 1,642

Livelihoods 12,471 1,143 13,614 3,589 361 3,950

Health and Wellbeing 4,271 391 4,662 2,361 245 2,606

Exploitation and Conflict 171 17 188 13 5 18 
TOTAL 41,391 3,938 45,329 29,280 2,881 32,161

9. Charitable activities (continued)
Field programme expenditure has been incurred in the following geographic and thematic areas	  

2022 
Direct Costs 

€’000

2022 
Support Costs 

€’000

2022 
Total Costs 

€’000

2021 
Direct Costs

Restated €’000

2021 
Support Costs 
Restated €’000

2021 
Total Costs 

Restated €’000

Zambia 4,797 206 5,003 2,087 197 2,284

Uganda 1,878 354 2,232 2,485 338 2,823

Ethiopia 1,696 177 1,873 1,786 169 1,955

Humanitarian 390 35 425 373 33 406

Kenya 7,252 451 7,703 4,610 431 5,041

Malawi 7,196 1,053 8,249 6,942 653 7,595

West Africa 693 140 833 1,387 134 1,521

Ethical trade services/
enterprise development* 3,063 332 3,395 3,507 316 3,823

Eritrea 58 5 63 56 5 61

Development education 1,565 158 1,723 1,494 151 1,645

Bangladesh 3,929 295 4,224 1,594 159 1,753

Brazil 342 2 344 46 4 50

Gambia-Senegal 2,221 188 2,409 820 82 902

Ghana 8 1 9 137 14 151

Guinea 1,196 110 1,306 273 27 300

Mozambique 1,708 157 1,865 683 68 751

Nigeria 1,367 78 1,445 410 41 451

UPT 854 76 930 91 9 100

Village Aid 170 10 180 46 5 51

CUMO 1,008 110 1,118 453 45 498 
TOTAL 41,391 3,938 45,329 29,280 2,881 32,161

* This work is carried on in over forty countries throughout Africa. It incorporates the expenditure of Partner Africa and TruTrade which 
relates to the group.
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11. Support costs
Support costs which are allocated to activities have been incurred against the following thematic areas:  

2022  
Charitable  

Activities  
€’000

2022  
Fundraising 

€’000

2022  
Retail  

€’000

2022 
Total  
Costs
 €’000

2021  
Charitable  

Activities  
€’000

2021
Fundraising  

 
€’000

2021
Retail

€’000

2021
Total  
Costs 
€’000

Direct salaries 1,526 62 43 1,631 1,115 31 35 1,181

Foreign exchange 153 7 - 160 112 3 - 115

Human resources 135 6 3 144 99 3 2 104

IT/computer 106 4 5 115 78 2 4 84

Post, comms., etc. 67 2 2 71 49 1 2 52

Premises 485 12 2 499 355 6 2 363

Professional fees 12 - 3 15 9 - 2 11

Other support costs 487 20 6 513 357 10 5 372

Governance costs 645 29 6 680 471 15 5 491

Research/advocacy costs 322 14 6 342 236 7 5 248

TOTAL 3,938 156 76 4,170 2,881 78 62 3,021

The basis of allocation of the support costs identified above is a mixture of the percentage of time spend on each activity and the pro 
rata cost of each direct cost when compared to the support cost.

10. Raising funds - other
Expenditure on raising funds represents fundraising costs to raise both restricted and unrestricted income. This is analysed as follows: 

2022 
€’000

2021  
€’000

Staff costs 886 770

Fundraising and promotional expenses 403 249

Support costs 156 78

TOTAL 1,445 1,097

12. Transfer between funds
Transfers between funds represent movements of funds between projects.  Transfers from restricted to unrestricted are as a result 
of a review of fund balances to identify funds held in restricted funds on projects that are now complete. If the likelihood of donor 
clawback is remote funds are classified as unrestricted.
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13. Net income/(expenditure)

2022  
€’000

2021  
€’000

The net income/(expenditure) for the financial year is stated after charging/(crediting):
(a) Group

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 249 236

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 10 13

Auditors’ remuneration, including expenses		
 - Audit of the group financial statements (a)
 - Other assurance services (a)

275
-

239
-

(b) Company

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 33 85

Auditors’ remuneration, including expenses		   
 - Audit of company only financial statements (a)
 - Other assurance services (a)

171
-

122
-

(a) This includes VAT. No amounts were paid to the group auditors in relation to advisory, tax advisory or other assurance services.

14. Other recognised (losses)/gains

2022  
€’000

2021  
€’000

Exchange (loss)/gain on consolidation (157) 169

TOTAL (157) 169

15. Taxation

2022 
€’000

2021 
€’000

Tax has been provided for in the Kenyan branch of Partner Africa as follows:

Deferred tax charge - (11)

No charge to tax arises due to the exempt status of the Company and its subsidiaries, Self Help Africa, Self Help Africa (UK), War on 
Want NI and TruTrade. Irrecoverable value added tax is expensed as incurred in these companies. Partner Africa is registered as a 
charity and benefits from corporation tax exemptions available to charitable bodies. It is however registered for VAT in the UK and 
Kenya and Partner Africa Kenya is subject to Kenyan corporation tax.  
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16. Staff costs

Staff costs are comprised as follows:
2022
€’000

2021
Restated €’000

Ireland and United Kingdom

Wages and salaries 5,716 5,712

Social welfare costs 537 433

Pension costs 337 248

Redundancy 286 72

Sub-total 6,876 6,465

Program Staff in Countries of Operation

Wages and salaries 9,305 2,922

Social welfare costs 191 32

Pension costs 299 207

Sub-total 9,795 3,161

Total staff costs 16,671 9,626

The average number of employees during the financial year was as 
follows:

2022 
Number

2021 
Number

Ireland and United Kingdom 166 173

Program staff in countries of operation 731 230

897 403

No employee of the group acts as director. 

The number of employees whose salaries (excluding employer pension contributions and employer PRSI) were 
greater than €60,000 were as follows:

2022 Number 2021 Number

€60,001 - €70,000 4 4

€70,001 - €80,000 3 4

€80,001 - €90,000 4 2

€90,001 - €100,000 2 2

€100,001 - €110,000 - -

€110,001 - €120,000 1 1
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17. Director remuneration and expenses
Directors are not remunerated but are entitled to be reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses incurred in the course of carrying out their 
duties. Travel and accommodation expenses relating to meetings of the Board and subsidiary Boards that were either borne by the 
Group or reimbursed to the relevant Board members amounted to €380 in 2022 (2021: €340).

In addition, Board members may periodically visit one of the Group’s countries of operation in order to ensure that they are familiar 
with Self Help Africa’s work or attend events overseas on behalf of the Group. The cost of these visits (which comprise medicals, visas, 
flights and accommodation) are generally borne by the group. 

18. Key management compensation
The total remuneration for the group key management personnel (which includes gross pay, employer insurance contributions, 
employer pension contributions and any other remuneration including benefits in kind) for the financial year amounted to €781,394 
(2021: €605,249) and this relates to six personnel (2021: five personnel). 

The remuneration of each individual subsidiary entity’s key management team is disclosed in the respective subsidiary entity individual 
financial statements.

19. Fixed assets 

Fixed Assets - Group Land & 
Buildings

€’000

Shop
Fittings

€’000

Motor 
vehicles 

€’000

Furniture, 
fittings and
equipment 

€’000

Total

€’000

Cost

At 1 January 2022 929 249 1,793 1,165 4,136

Revaluation (52) - - - (52)

Additions - - 52 132 184

Disposals - - (66) (62) (128)

Reclassification - - - - -

Exchange gain/(loss) on consolidation (17) - (154) (83) (254)

At 31 December 2022 860 249 1,625 1,152 3,886

Accumulated Depreciation

At 1 January 2022 134 249 1,425 830 2,638

Depreciation on acquisition - - - - -

Charge for the year 15 - 139 95 249 

Adjustment to classification - - - - -

Disposals - - (58) (28) (86)

Exchange gain/(loss) on consolidation (3) - (116) (69) (188)

At 31 December 2022 146 249 1,390 828 2,613

Net Book Value 
At 31 December 2022

714 - 235 324 1,273

At 31 December 2021 795 - 368 335 1,498
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19. Fixed assets (continued)

Fixed Assets - Company Shop  
Fittings

€’000

Office Furniture and 
Equipment  

€’000

Motor  
vehicles  

€’000

Total

€’000

Cost

At 1 January 2022 249 211 344 804

Additions - 25 13 38

Disposals - - - -

Exchange gain/(loss) on consolidation                - (1)  5 4

At 31 December 2022 249 235 362 846

Accumulated Depreciation

At 1 January 2022 249 188 322 759

Charge for the year - 16 18 34

Disposals - - - -

Exchange gain/(loss) on consolidation - (1) 1 -

At 31 December 2022 249 203 341 793

Net Book Value
At 31 December 2022

- 32 21 53

At 31 December 2021 - 23 22 45

Intangible assets - Group Computer Application  
€’000

Total  
€’000

Cost

At 1 January 2022 48 48

Additions - -

Exchange gain on consolidation - -

At 31 December 2022 48 48

Depreciation

At 1 January 2022 38 38 

Charge for the year 9 9

Exchange gain on consolidation - -

At 31 December 2022 47 47 

Net Book Value
At 31 December 2022

1 1

At 31 December 2021 10 10 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the financial year ended 31 December 2022
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21.  Financial assets group

Name  Registered Address Shareholding Activity

 Self Help Africa (UK) Westgate House, Dickens Court, 
25 Hills Lane, Shrewsbury,  SY1 
1QU

100% Improve food, nutrition, and 
income security for smallholder 
farmers in Africa.

War on Want (N.I.) Ltd 61 Duncairn Gardens, Belfast, 
BT15 2GB

100% Operates charity shops across 
Northern Ireland.  Entity is 
being wound down and will be 
struck off the charities register 
upon completion.

Partner Africa Dickens Court, 25 Hills Lane, 
Shrewsbury,  SY1 1QU

100% Delivers high quality and 
innovative ethical audits and 
responsible business advisory 
services to clients

TruTrade Bank of Africa House, 4th Floor, 
Westlands, Nairobi, Kenya

100% Increasing smallholder farmer 
income through integrating 
smallholder’s producers into 
sustainable value chains.

United Purpose 1st Floor, Wellington House, 
Wellington Street,  Cardiff,  
CF11 9BE

100% Strives to end poverty and 
inequality by being a leader in 
community led developments 
and grass roots innovation.

Self Help Africa                          Kingsbridge House, 17-22                                               
Parkgate Street, Dublin 8         

100% Dormant entity and will be
Struck off in 2024

21. Financial assets company

2022 €’000 2021 €’000

Investment in United Purpose (UP)                                   4,820 4,820

Impairment of Investment in UP                                                          (587) -

Value of Investment 31 Dec 2022 4,233 4,820

On 4th August 2021 Self Help Africa (SHA) entered into a legal and binding merger agreement with United Purpose (UP), a UK based 
charitable organisation operating across Africa, Latin America and Southeast Asia. On the 4th of August a fair value assessment was 
carried out on the assets and liabilities of UP and a Gift in Kind valuation was calculated and included in the consolidated financial 
statements.  A provision was included on the 4th of August for committed project funds for greater than one year. The impairment as a 
result of the deficit in United Purpose in 2022.

Fair value of net assets on the 4th August 2021 2021 €’000

Tangible fixed assets    1,206

Current assets: Cash                                                       4,019

                             Debtors                                                  3,242

Current liabilities                                                           (2,114)

Total Assets less Liabilities                                                                        6,353

Less creditors amounts due over one year (1,533)

Total net assets                                                                4,820
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22. Short term investments

Group and Company:
Investments relate to a bequest of shares, the market value of which at 31 December 2022 was €178,143 (2021: €241,943).

23. Cash at bank and in hand

2022
€’000

2021
€’000

(a) Group:
By fund designation:

Restricted 6,767 8,397

Unrestricted 7,460 9,258

14,227 17,655

By account type:

Deposit accounts 387 9,178

Current accounts 13,840 8,355

County committee accounts - -

Cash on hand - 122

TOTAL 14,227 17,655

(b) Company:
By fund designation:

Restricted 3,638 6,993

Unrestricted 4,011 4,460

7,649 11,453

By account type:

Deposit accounts 385 6,258

Current accounts 7,264 5,195

County committee accounts - -

Cash on hand - -

TOTAL 7,649 11,453

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the financial year ended 31 December 2022
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24. Debtors

2022 €’000 2021 €’000 
Restated

(a) Group:

Tax refunds on donations receivable - -

Deferred tax 28 78

Other debtors 8,240 8,563

Prepayments 314 172

Due from Self Help Inc. (Note 36) 50 35

Accrued income 1,236 448

TOTAL 9,868 9,296

(b) Company:

Amount due from subsidiaries 656 1,697

Due from Self Help Africa Inc. (Note 36) 50 35

Other debtors 5,713 5,306

Prepayments 210 131

Accrued income 130 414

TOTAL 6,759 7,583

25. Creditors

Amounts falling due within one financial year 2022 €’000 2021 €’000

(a) Group:

Trade creditors 4,895 6,551

Accruals 537 657

Trade finance fund - -

Deferred revenue - 140

Other amounts payable 214 541

CUMO loan collateral fund 411 300

Pension liability 7 8

VAT Payable - -

PAYE/PRSI liability 119 115

TOTAL 6,183 8,312

(b) Company:

Trade creditors 4,572 6,870

Accruals 142 247

Other amounts payable 26 15

PAYE/PRSI liability 86 67

Group companies - 379

TOTAL 4,826 7,578



98

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the financial year ended 31 December 2022

26. Creditors

Amounts falling due after more than one financial year 2022
€’000

2021
€’000

(a) Group:

Other amounts payable (Note 30) 965 1,356

(b) Company:

Other amounts payable (Note 30) - -

27. Financial instruments
The carrying value of the group and company’s financial assets and liabilities, fair value gains and losses are 
summarised by category below:

Financial Assets 
Measured at Fair value through the Profit and loss

2022
€’000

2021 
€’000 

Restated

(a) Group and company

Current asset listed investments 178 242

Measured at undiscounted amount receivable 
(b) Group

Other debtors 8,240 8,563

(b) Company

Amount due from subsidiaries 655 1,697

Due from Self Help Africa Inc. 50 35

Other debtors 5,713 5,306

Financial Liabilities
Measured at undiscounted amount payable

(a) Group

Trade creditors 4,895 6,551

Trade finance fund - -

Other amounts payable 214 541

(b) Company

Impairment of investment 587 -

Trade Creditors 329 260

Other amounts payable  26 15

Amounts due to group companies 4,241 6,989

Fair Value Gains and Losses
Measured at Fair value through the profit and loss

(a) Group and company

Gains and losses on financial assets (63) 58



99Self Help Africa Annual Report 2022

28. Commitments
At 31 December 2021 the company had total future minimum commitments under non cancellable operating 
leases as follows:

Expiring in:
2022
€’000

2021
€’000

Within 1 year 473 495

Between 1 and 5 years 83 176

Over 5 years 5 80

561 751

29. Pension scheme 
The company operates employer sponsored defined contribution pension schemes which are available to all 
staff. During the year, the charity made contributions in respect of its employees who elected to contribute.  
The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the company, in externally managed funds.  
The pension expense for the financial year amounted to €342,411 (2021: €216,698). Balance outstanding at 
financial year end €0 (2021: €0).

30. Other amounts payable 
A provision relating to the group has been recognised which represents a shortfall on committed projects 
The amount €463,960 has been classified in creditors greater than one year.  This was recognised as a fair value 
adjustment on the acquisition of UP.
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31. �Reconciliation of net expenditure to net cash used by  
charitable activities

Group
2022
€’000

2021
€’000

Restated

Net expenditure for the reporting year
(as per the Statement of Financial Activities) (650) (2,841)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 258 250

(Profit)/loss on fixed asset disposal 41 (10)

Net assets acquired through charity combination - (4,820)

(Increase)/decrease in short term investments 63 (58)

Exchange loss/(gain) on deferred tax asset - 11

Exchange loss on consolidated fixed assets 119 5

Increase in stock 15 1

Increase in debtors (572) (4,600)

(Decrease)/Increase in creditors- amounts due within one year (2,129) 1,818

(Decrease)/Increase in creditors- amounts due over one year (391) 963

Interest received 1 (59)

Net cash (used) by charitable activities (3,245) (9,340)

Company

Net expenditure for the reporting year
(as per the Statement of Financial Activities) (2,519) (2,453)

Adjustments for: 
Depreciation 34 85

Net assets acquired through charity combinations - (4,820)

Impairment of investment assets 587 -

Exchange loss on consolidated fixed assets (5) 28

Decrease/(Increase) in short term investments 63 (58)

Decrease/(Increase) in debtors 824 (4,607)

(Decrease)/Increase in creditors - amounts due within one year (2,752) 1,350

Interest received 1 (58)

Net cash (used) by charitable activities (3,767) (10,533)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the financial year ended 31 December 2022
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32. �Legal status of the Company
Gorta’s consolidated financial statements combine the activities of Gorta in Ireland and Self Help Africa (UK), United Purpose, Partner 
Africa, War on Want (N.I.) Ltd, and TruTrade. The net income/(expenditure) for the year, and the funds of the charity of each of the 
group companies at the financial year-end are detailed below.

Net income/(expenditure)  
for the year 31/12/2022

€’000

Funds of the charity at  
the year end 31/12/2022

€’000

Gorta (2,519) 14,046

Self Help Africa (UK) (601) 602

Partner Africa (146) 320

War On Want (N.I.) Ltd (117) (44)

TruTrade 8 49

United Purpose 2,725 3,427

Group total (650) 18,400

33. �Funds of the charity

Group Restricted Funds
€’000

Unrestricted Funds
€’000

Total Funds
€’000

(i) Reconciliation of funds:

Funds at 1 January 2022 10,755 8,295 19,050

Net income/(expenditure) for the year 492 (1,142) (650)

Transfer between funds (178) 178 -

Fund balances at 31 December 2022 11,069 7,331 18,400

(ii) Analysis of net assets between funds:
Restricted Funds

€’000
Unrestricted Funds

€’000
Balance 31/12/2022

€’000

Tangible Fixed Assets - 1,274 1,274

Current Assets 11,069 13,205 24,274

Liabilities - (7,148) (7,148) 

Total Funds 11,069 7,331 18,400

(iii) Movements in funds:

Balance as at
01/01/2022

€’000

Income

€’000

Expenditure

€’000

Transfer  
between funds

€’000

Balance

€’000

Restricted Funds 10,755 34,908 (34,416) (178) 11,069

Unrestricted Funds 8,295 11,829 (12,971) 178 7,331

Total Funds 19,050 46,737 (47,387) - 18,400
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33. �Funds of the charity (continued)

Company only Restricted 
Funds
€’000

Unrestricted 
Funds
€’000

Total
 Funds

€’000

(i) Reconciliation of funds:

Fund balance at 1 January 2022 9,351 7,214 16,565

Net income/(expenditure) for the year 1,251 (3,770) (2,519)

Fund balances at 31 December 2022 10,602 3,444 14,046

(ii) Analysis of net assets between funds:
Restricted 

Funds
€’000

Unrestricted 
Funds
 €’000

Balance 
31/12/2022 

€’000

Tangible Fixed Assets - 4,286 4,286

Current Assets 10,602 3,984 14,586

Liabilities - (4,826) (4,826)

Total Funds 10,602 3,444 14,046

(iii) Movements in funds:
Balance as at 

01/01/2022 
€’000

Income

€’000

Expenditure

€’000

Balance 
31/12/2022  

€’000

Restricted Funds 9,351 19,193 (17,942) 10,602

Unrestricted Funds 7,214 5,892 (9,662) 3,444 

Total Funds 16,565 25,085 (27,604) 14,046

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the financial year ended 31 December 2022

34. Financial risk management 
Currency risk 
Much of the organisation’s costs, particularly overseas costs, are denominated in euro and local currency while most income is received 
in euro. A strengthening of the local currency against the euro could have an adverse effect on Gorta’s ability to deliver its planned 
programme of work. These currency risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Cash flow risk 
Gorta hold a number of bank accounts deposited in a number of different financial institutions ensuring the security of our funds and 
also endeavouring to maximise the return available. The organisation’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in 
interest rates. Interest bearing assets are held at fixed rates to ensure certainty of cash flows.

Credit risk 
The organisation’s principal financial assets are bank balances and cash, trade and other receivables, and current asset investments. 
The credit risk on cash at bank and current asset investments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings 
assigned by international credit-rating agencies. The organisation has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread 
over a number of counterparties and customers.
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35. Prior year adjustment 
Background

In 2021 SHA Zambia, a branch of the Company, treated payments they made to partners as expense items in their Income and 
Expenditure account.  This was in contravention to the organisations accounting policies which state that payments made to partners 
should be booked to the balance sheet and only released to the Income and Expenditure account when the partner submits 
appropriate expenditure verification reports. This was adjusted for as a prior year adjustment in the 2022 Financial Statements of SHA 
Zambia.  As the amount is material for the group, the group accounts also have to reflect this prior year adjustment. The prior year 
adjustment will also impact cost allocation across thematic categories and support costs as reflected in Note 9 and 11 above as costs 
are allocated on a percentage basis across expenditure categories (Note 9) and support costs (note 11).

Impact of Prior Year Adjustment    

Group Financial Statements Group Charitable 
Activities Restricted

€’000

Group  
Debtors

€’000

Group Restricted 
Reserves

€’000

As previously stated 26,598 6,937 8,396

Prior year adjustment (2,359) 2,359 2,359

Restated                          24,239 9,296 10,755

Company Financial Statements Net movement in funds 
2021
€’000

Company  
Debtors

€’000

Company 
Restricted 

Reserves
€’000

As previously stated (4,812) 5,224 6,992

Prior year adjustment 2,359 2,359 2,359

Restated                          (2,453) 7,583 9,351

36. Self Help Africa Inc.
Self Help Africa Inc. is a not-for-profit organisation registered in the United States of America. Self Help Africa Inc. (SHA Inc.) is governed 
by an independent board of directors which retains full control over the financial and operating policies of the company and is not 
controlled by the Gorta Group.  The results and operations of SHA Inc. are not consolidated in these financial statements. During the 
financial year SHA Inc. on-granted €597,484 of restricted income received (2021: €79,815) and €nil of voluntary income raised (2021: 
€120,299) to Gorta t/a Self Help Africa projects. Total amounts granted by SHA Inc. to Gorta t/a Self Help Africa of €597,484 (2021: 
€200,114) have been included in the accounts of Gorta t/a Self Help Africa under income and endowments and expenditure. 

At the end of 2020 SHA Inc. owed €119,654 to Self Help Africa (UK) in relation to funds that were received in the US that were due to be 
forwarded to Self Help Africa (UK) in relation to programmes implemented in West Africa. Self Help Africa (UK) used its own funds to 
implement these programmes.  Due to an adverse fundraising environment in the US, this debt was unlikely to be repaid in the short 
to medium term.  A provision for non-repayment of this amount has been made in the Gorta accounts in 2020. A balance of €49,947 
remained outstanding at 31 December 2022 (2021: €34,679) represented by a loan repayable by SHA Inc. to Gorta t/a Self Help Africa. 

37. Subsequent events
No events have occurred since the balance sheet date that require adjustment or disclosure.
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HEAD OFFICE  
4th Floor, Joyce’s Court, 38 Talbot Street, Dublin 1, Ireland 

Tel. +353 (0)1 677 8880

Partner
Africa

www.selfhelpafrica.org

Betty Banda farms upland 
rice in northern Malawi.




